

Strasbourg, 1 July 2008 [Inf01erev\_2008.doc] T-PVS/Inf(2008)1 rev

#### CONVENTION ON THE CONSER VATION OF EUROPEAN WILDLIFE AND NATURAL HABIT ATS

## **Standing Committee**

28<sup>th</sup> meeting S trasbourg, 24-27 November 2008

## Climatic change and the conservation of migratory birds in Europe: identifing effects and conservation priorities

Report prepared by Mr Miguel Ferrer, Dept. of Biodiversity Conservation, Estación Biológica de Doñana, CSIC. Avda. María Luisa, Pabellón del Perú, 41013 Seville, Spain. Phone +95 423 23 40. E-mail: <u>mferrer@ebd.csic.es</u> Mr Ian Newton, Centre for Ecology & Hydrology, Monks Wood Research Station, Abbots Ripton,

Huntingdon Cambs PE28 2LS. United Kingdom Mr Keith Bildstein, Acopian Center for Conservation Learning, Hawk Mountain Sanctuary, 410 Summer Valley Road, Orwigsburg, Pennsylvania 17961 United States

> This document will not be distributed at the meeting. Please bring this copy. Ce document ne sera plus distribué en réunion. Prière de vous munir de cet exemplaire.

## EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

## Introduction

Birds are one of the best groups of animals for monitoring the effects of climate change. They are day-time active, conspicuous, easy to identify, and are popular with many groups of people, including amateur birdwatchers and professional scientists. In many parts of Europe, their distributions and numbers, as well as the timing of their migrations and breeding seasons, have been well monitored for decades.

Migratory birds are likely to be more vulnerable than non-migrants because they can influenced by conditions in three different geographic locations: their breeding grounds, their wintering areas, and their migration routes. Individual birds also experience "carry-over effects," such as when conditions experienced in wintering areas influence subsequent breeding success, or when conditions experienced on the breeding grounds influence subsequent over-winter survival.

Furthermore, field evidence indicates that large numbers of migrants can be are killed by storms encountered when they are migrating. Climatologists predict that storms and other extreme events are likely to increase in frequency in the years ahead. Therefore we can expect that migrants will suffer greater storm-induced losses, which could cause noticeable reductions in populations regardless of other climate changes.

## Responses of migratory birds to climatic changes

A growing body of field and laboratory evidence indicates that far from being a static and conservative trait; migration is a dynamic and flexible behaviour in birds that is greatly influenced by external factors. Thus we can expect that in addition to population effects in migrants, migratory behaviour, itself, is likely to change in association with climate change. And, indeed, many changes in migration already have been reported. Many migrants are migrating earlier in spring than formerly, and some are migrating later in autumn as well. As a result, individuals of some species stay for longer on their European breeding areas. Most examples of shifts of increased migratory behaviour involve species that have extended their breeding ranges into higher latitude areas where overwintering was not possible or was costly in the past. On the other hand, some species that once were entirely migratory are now partially migratory, with increasing numbers of individuals staying on their breeding grounds year-round. In yet other species, individuals are now migrating shorter distances than formerly, and are over-wintering farther north. One example of the latter is the increased proportion of White Storks that now over-winters in southern Spain, rather than migrating to Africa. In some species these changes may be beneficial or neutral to populations. In others they may be harmful. Almost all of these changes are associated with changes in food-availability, or with climatic conditions that are likely to affect food-supplies, such as milder winters.

Some of the observed changes in migratory behaviour appear to represent immediate behavioural or "facultative" responses to prevailing conditions, whereas others may reflect genetic changes brought about by natural selection. Despite difficulties of detecting the latter, there is evidence from a few species that indicates a genetic basis for changes in migration timing, and, at least for one species, a genetic basis for changes in migration intensity and the direction of migratory travel. Most changes in migratory behaviour are likely to start as facultative responses and then become genetically based as natural selection acts over time.

One situation that has come to light in studies of biological responses to climate change is that different plants and animals often do not respond at the same speed and magnitude to climate change. As a result migratory birds that once arrived on their breeding areas when their food-supplies were reaching their peaks now arrive either too early or too late to take immediate advantage of this situation. Furthermore, those arriving too late are likely to breed less successfully, resulting in population declines.

The breeding ranges of some European birds are already shifting north, as individuals withdraw from southern portions of their ranges, while others spread north at the northern limits of their ranges. A particular concern involving range shifts is the loss of mountain-top breeders, which may disappear from much of their range, as global warming reduces the extent of specific high-mountain habitats.

Some measures taken to combat the causes of climate change, such as the development of wind farms, could themselves severely impact migratory birds. This is particularly so if wind farms are sited improperly along major migration routes, where large numbers of migrants could then be killed by colliding with rotor blades.

#### Suggested actions

1. We recommend establishing a functional network of watchsites or "watchtowers" for monitoring changes in bird behaviour and assessing bird-population trends in Europe. Considerating the relative geographic importance of certain sites at a continental scale, as well as an ongoing tradition for migration monitoring, these watchtowers should include at minimum:

- Falsterbö, in southwestern Sweden
- Fair Isle, in northern Scotland
- Texel, in northwestern Holland
- The Strait of Gibraltar, near Tarifa, Spain
- Southern Italy, including the Strait of Messina
- Elat, in southern Israel

2. In addition to this network of monitoring sites, we recommend establishing a set of focal species whose populations and behaviour should be monitored because of their relationships with more-difficult-to-follow but critical biological variables, including overall biological diversity and changes to habitats of special interest, etc. Specifically, we recommend the focused monitoring of seabirds, wetland birds, diurnal birds of prey or raptors, other soaring birds, and several widespread and long-term studied songbirds.

3. An increasing body of evidence suggests that as climate change alters existing landscapes current networks of natural areas will no longer hold many of the target species and habitats they were designed to include. Complementary policies are needed. "Land custody" or, land stewardship via easements, is a flexible habitat-protection strategy that could be used to maintain critical landscape features, track changes in biodiversity, engage the general public, and involve private landowners in natural resource conservation. Public interest in this land-use strategy could be increased with tax incentives and tax benefits for participating landowners. An additional strategy designed to reduce species losses, would be to incorporate linear infrastructures including power-line, road, and rail rights-of-ways, as a supplementary wildlife corridors for organisms moving in responses to climate change.

4. Historically, most migration studies have occurred in the middle and northern latitudes of Europe. Whereas these studies need to continue, there is a particular need to increase the numbers of studies further south in southern Europe, where many migratory birds over-winter, and where many others pass through while migrating between European breeding grounds and African wintering areas. One particularly good location for additional migration study is southern Spain, near the Strait of Gibraltar, through which an array of species migrate in both spring and autumn.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	5
2.	Climate change	5
3.	Migratory birds in Europe	6
4.	Impact of climate change in migratory birds	9
	······································	12 13
	4.4 Discussion	14
5.	Recent changes in the distribution of birds	16
6.	Consequences of these changes	16
7.	Other related impacts	17
8.	Long-distance migration and bird biodiversity	18
9.	Conservation in protected networks. It is enough?	19
10.	Toward a daptive m an agem en t	19
	<ul><li>10.1 Establish surveillance network for migratory fauna at continental scale</li><li>10.2 A new dynamic system of protected areas</li></ul>	
11.	Bibli ogra ph y	22

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Climatic change is a major factor that is likely to affect the earth's ecosystems in the coming decades. The increase in global surface temperature in the last century was the largest in any century during the past 1,000 years. This change in temperature has been associated with changes in weather patterns, including precipitation and snow cover, as well as changes in sea temperatures and sea level. Climate change is a phenomenon that currently can be recognized by many indicators. The impacts of climatic change affect not only species and ecosystems but also human economy and society. We face a potentially serious problem, both for us and our environments.

There is compelling evidence that animals and plants have been affected by recent changes in climate. Migratory species, which travel long distances and are subject to a wide range of environmental influences and that rely on a wide range of natural resources, are particularly likely to be affected by climate change.

The primary instrument for migratory species conservation is the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (Bonn 1979, ratified by 101 parties by 2007). CMS recognises that states have a duty to protect migratory species that live within or pass through their boundaries and that their effective management requires concerted action from all states in which a species spends parts of its life-cycle. Under CMS framework, specific agreements can be made as Memoranda of Understanding among appropriate states.

The Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats (Bern, 1979) aims to conserve wild flora and fauna and their natural habitats, especially those species and habitats whose conservation requires the co-operation of several States. With the addition of Serbia and Armenia, the Bern Convention will have 47 Contracting Parties in 2008. By joining the Convention, States have undertaken to co-ordinate their efforts for the protection of the migratory species listed in Appendices II and III whose range extends into their territories. The Bern Convention gives also special attention to the protection of areas of importance for those migratory species listed and, in particular, in relation to migration routes, such as wintering, staging, feeding, breeding or moulting areas.

The present report has been prepared for discussion by the "Group of Experts on Biodiversity and Climate Change" of the Council of Europe, set up under the Bern Convention. The report (1) assesses the current scientific evidence linking climate change and the behaviour, distribution, and abundance migratory species of birds, (2) identifies what effects climate change may have on migratory birds in the future, and (3) suggests an adaptive management strategy for the conservation of migratory species of birds and the phenomenon of bird migration itself, in the face of the climatic change.

## 2. CLIMATE CHANGE

Earth's climate is currently changing. Although climate change has occurred throughout earth's history, the current rate of change, the fact that we are present to be impacted by it and the growing body of evidence indicating that we are responsible for it, all suggest that we should attempt to reduce its impacts wherever possible. Over the course of the last century, global average surface temperature has increased by around 0.6°C, and precipitation has increased, particularly over mid- and high-latitudes. These changes, in turn, have affected the extent of both global ice cover (decreasing) and sea-levels (increasing).

The ongoing increase in temperature resulted from increased concentrations of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, which reduces radiative heat loss from earth. As a result of burning fossil fuels and other human activities, carbon dioxide concentrations have risen by 32% from about 280 ppm in pre-industrial times to about 370 ppm at present. If this trend continues, carbon dioxide levels are expected to exceed 400 ppm by the year 2100, causing a mean global temperature rise of 1-4 °C in the coming century. Increased surface warming is likely to increase the frequency and intensity of climatic extremes, including tropical cyclones, flooding, and droughts.

Sea-levels are forecast to rise at rates of 30-50 cm per century, flooding many fertile delta regions and low-lying is lands. Over much of the world, glacial areas will be restricted to higher latitudes and altitudes, and animals and plants that depend upon them will be further restricted as well. Pollen

records suggest that in most instances trees can shift their ranges by about 200-400 m annually (Davis 1981, King & Hertrom 1997). Under the current rate of climate change, July isotherms are expected to advance northward at 4-5-Km annually. If trees were to track this rate of change they would need to migrate 10-25 times faster than the mean rate exhibited by the pollen record. In this situation it is difficult to predict the impacts of climate change on plants and animals.

Another problem in predicting future biota distribution is that large parts of the landscape have now been converted to human use and, as such, are closed to most of the wild animals and plants. In fact, many areas provide no broad-front dispersal route, but, at best, a series of narrow interrupted corridors and stepping stones, thereby impeding or preventing the movements of many organisms. The ongoing situation is likely to favour plants with short response times, namely herbs, shrubs and fastgrowing trees, whereas slow-growing trees with long generation times and poor dispersal characteristics could be particularly disadvantaged. Although animals are more mobile than plants, they also are restricted to areas of suitable vegetation.

#### Error! Objects cannot be created from editing field codes.

## **3.** MIGRATORY BIRDS IN EUROPE

The environmental conditions for life on our planet are characterized by the continuous influence of a geophysical cycle with annual periodicity. 'Seasonal Earth' results from the planet's rotation around the sun together with the degree of inclination of its axis of rotation, resulting in the four climatic seasons in most part of the world. The seasons bring with them constant changes in environmental conditions to which animals must adapt if the are to survive and reproduce. A common response to seasonal periodicity is migration.

Diverse forms of seasonal migration have developed in response to the seasons. The simplest cases are vertical migrations in a geographically limited environment. In birds too, some of the simplest seasonal migrations are vertical. Many alpine birds migrate down to the valleys to spend the winter. In European high mountains and subalpine regions this behaviour is exhibited by Alpine Choughs (*Phyrrycorax graculus*), the Water Pipits (*Anthus spinoletta*), and Walkreepers (*Tichodroma muraria*) among others (Berthold 2006).

Seasonal long-distance migrations can be found in many arthropods. Marine crustacea can migrate for several hundred kilometres on the bottom of the sea. The American Monarch butterfly (*Danaus plexippus*) migrates up to 4000 Km from Canada to Mexico, and the Red Admiral (*Vanessa atalanta*) is believed to migrate from northern Africa over the Mediterranean into Scandinavia. Seasonal long-distance migration is pronounced in all vertebrate classes, including fish, amphibians, reptiles and mammals. But no class exhibits the complexity and extent of the migration of birds (Berthold 2006).

Birds are especially adapted to migration due to their capacity for active flight, their size, and their homoeothermy. Birds are present in virtually all parts of the Earth, and their migratory routes cover most of the Earth's surface. In extreme cases migrants cover distances equivalent to the circumference of the planet. The number of bird species that migrates varies with latitude. In the northern hemisphere, less than 10% of tropical species undertake migratory journeys, this proportion increases with distance from the equator, and more than 80% of all species above the Arctic Circle migrate. Climate induced changes in the habitat are predicted to be greatest in the Arctic, where the importance of migratory species is highest. In Europe, more than 60% of the roughly 400 breeding bird species are partial migrants (species in which some individuals migrate, but others do not), and it is highly likely that the remainder, are also genotypical partial migrants (i.e. potential partial migrants whose genome contains genes that can induce sedentary behaviour under certain conditions, Bertthold 1999).

Migratory birds are perhaps the best group of animals on which to monitor the effects of climate change. They are diurnal in habits, conspicuous and easy to identify, and are popular with many people, including scientists. In various parts of Europe, their distributions and numbers have been well monitored for decades, as has the timing of their migrations and breeding seasons. Migratory birds are

perhaps more vulnerable than most species to climate change, because they can be influenced by conditions in their disjunct breeding grounds and wintering areas, as well at sites along their migration routes. Research has shown that populations of some migratory birds are limited by conditions in wintering areas, whereas those of others are limited by conditions in breeding areas, or at stopover sites along migration routes. Individual birds also experience carry-over effects, in that conditions experienced in wintering areas can influence subsequent breeding success; and conditions experienced on the breeding grounds can influence subsequent over-winter survival.



## Figure from Newton (2003) showing the cline of percent of migratory birds according latitude in Europe.

There is no doubt that bird migration originated in the tropics, or at least in tropical-subtropical conditions. This is supported by the observation that most long-distance migrants of the northern hemisphere have closely related, non-migratory or partially migratory forms in the tropics (Rappole 1995). Migration under tropical conditions initially covered only short distances and from the beginning included partial migration. However partial migration may have evolved (Bildstein 2006), it has proved to be an extremely successful and adaptable life force, and has become increasingly widespread.

Once partial migration was genetically anchored in a species, the movement ecology of populations within it could range from entirely sedentary to completely migratory depending upon ecological circumstances, and within the latter, intercontinental, long-distance migration could evolve as conditions merited. Selection experiments involving captive song birds suggest that the transformation from migratory to sedentary population (or vice versa) in the wild could occur within about 25 generations or 40 years (Berthold 1999).

Recent ice ages certainly played a major role in the development of bird migration in and out of Europe. At the height of ice coverage in the Northern Hemisphere the avifauna of Europe was greatly reduced (Moreau 1954), only to increase during intervening warm periods. The current bird migration system in Europe, which emerged at the end of the last ice age, 15 000 years ago, is still developing (Berthold 2006).

Migrant birds also are important vectors for different forms of life, including plants, fungi, algae, and many microorganisms. As a result, migratory birds can be a major factor in determining the distribution of other life forms. Populations of migrating birds can also serve as reservoirs for diseases and can spread disease-causing agents to humans, their livestock, and plant resources. In an overview of the subject, Gerlach (1979) lists viruses, *Rickettsia, Chlamydia*, bacteria, and fungi as disease vectors that can be spread by birds either through direct infection or through the ectoparasites carried by birds. Cases of toxoplasmosis and Haemosporidia (i.e. protozoans) have been reported (Aspöck &

Hermentin 1987, Valkjunas 1989). This widespread transport has been closely studied. An examination of over 5,000 birds in Austria has revealed that many arboviruses are regularly transported by migratory birds (Wojta & Aspöck 1982). Transported infections include Q fever, typhus fever, pseudo-tuberculosis, Newcastle disease, salmonella, and, most recently, avian influenza H5 N1. As migration behaviour changes in European birds as a result of climate change, so will their role as transport agents of organisms that are important to humans.



From Bildstein (2006)

## 4. IMPACT OF CLIMATE CHANGE IN MIGRATORY BIRDS

Change in the migratory behaviour of wild birds has attracted attention recently, as interest has grown in assessing the effects of human-induced climate change. If weather has become warmer, as it has over much of the world, one might expect birds to have responded accordingly, with migratory species overwintering at higher latitudes, or arriving earlier and departing later from their breeding grounds. Ringrecoveries, long-term observations of visible migration at migration watchsites, and regional records of first arrival and last departure in spring and autumn, respectively, all have played important roles in assessing the way that bird migration has changed and continues to change over time. The following sections provide examples of these changes.

#### 4.1 Changes in migration timing

Studies of long-term trends in arrival times of birds are mostly based on dates of first sightings, as it is these dates that are most frequently recorded, in some European localities for periods exceeding 300 years (Lehikoinen *et al.* 2004). The problem with first arrival dates is that many refer only to single individuals, which may not be representative of entire populations. Although median or mean arrival dates of populations of individuals in their breeding areas are more representative, they have been recorded less frequently, and chiefly in recent decades. Another source of migration timing are Bird Observatories where observations of visible migrants or trapping dates of other migrants are maintained throughout the migration seasons each year, enabling median or mean passage dates (and standard deviations) to be calculated. One approach in using these data has been to combine records from different Bird Observatories in the same region and calculate regional values.

Whereas arrival (or departure) dates refer to birds from a single population breeding in a particular area, passage dates usually refer to birds from more than one breeding area, occupying a wide span of latitude, counted at a point on their migration. Some studies have compared first and median or mean passage dates from the same site over a period of years, and found the various dates to be correlated (Sparks *et al.* 2005, Hüppop & Hüppop 2003, Jenni & Kéry 2003, Vähätalo *et al.* 2004). In years that were early, the total arrival period was prolonged. Despite methodologic al differences, long-term studies of migration timing tend to support each other's findings.

#### **SPRING DATES**

Presumably as a result of long-term climate warming, many birds now arrive in their breeding areas earlier in spring and depart later in autumn than in the past, spending from a few days to a few weeks longer each year in their summer quarters. Such changes have become apparent in a wide range of species at many localities in both Eurasia and North America (Moritz 1993, Loxton & Sparks 1999, Vogel & Moritz 1995, Sparks 1999, Sparks & Mason 2001, Fiedler 2001, Inouye et al. 2000, Jenkins & Watson 2000, Sokolov 2001, 2006, Sokolov et al. 2000, Bairlein & Winkel 2001, Zalakevicius & Zalakevicuite 2001, Hüppop & Hüppop 2002, Tryjanowski et al 2002, Bradley et al. 1999, Root et al. 2003, Lehikoinen et al. 2004, Vähätalo et al. 2004, Mills 2005, Stervander et al 2005). Nevertheless, not all species exhibit such changes. Exceptions may be the result of missing data or population declines that make it more difficult to detect the earliest arrivals and latest departures, as well as inflexibility in migration scheduling, or constancy in limiting factors in spite of climate change.

Of 983 Eurasian bird populations in which first arrival dates on the breeding grounds were monitored over time, 59% showing no significant change, 39% arrived significantly earlier, and only 2% arrived significantly later (Lehikoinen *et al.* 2004). Both short-distance and long-distance migrants showed the same trends. From 222 populations for which mean passage dates could be calculated of time, 69% showed no change, 26% were significantly earlier, and only 5% were significantly later. The average change of first arrival date over all species and sites was -0.373 days per year, while the equivalent figure for mean passage dates was -0.100 days per year. Both figures were statistically significant. It is not obvious why the two figures differed, but in general the mean migration dates were based on larger, more standardised data-sets.

Within the long term trends, arrival and migration dates fluctuated annually in line with local temperature. For example, at the Rybachy Bird Observatory on the Courish Spit in the southeastern Baltic, warming during the 1930s and 1940s, and then in the 1960s and 1980s, was associated with

significantly earlier spring migration in many species of song birds, whereas coller periods during the 1950s and 1970s were associated with later passage (Sokolov *et al.* 1998).

Most researchers have used annual temperatures from localities on the migration route or breeding area, whereas others have used the winter-spring index of the North Atlantic Oscillation (NAO), a large-scale climate phenomenon influencing weather in this region (eg Vahatalo et al. 2004, Stervander et al. 2005, Sokolov 2006, Zalekevicius et al. 2006), that is calculated as the difference in normalised monthly values of atmospheric pressure in the Azores and Iceland. Positive values indicate warmer and wetter winter-spring weather (and by earlier spring migration) in northwest Europe and the opposite weather conditions and later arrival dates than usual in southern Europe. Typically, most birds arrived about 2.5-3.3 days earlier for every 1°C increase in spring temperature (based on 203 regression analyses for different Eurasian bird populations, Lehikoinen *et al.* 2004). A smaller number of studies available from North America revealed similar trends (Bradley *et al.* 1999, Inouye *et al.* 2000, Butler 2003, Mills 2005, Murphy-Klaassen *et al.* 2005), although in eastern North America, long-term temperature change has been less marked than in Western Europe. In general, earlier arrival of migrants in spring leads to earlier breeding, as described as a recent trend in a range of species (Crick *et al.* 1992, Sokolov 2006). Earlier breeding, in turn, often gives rise to higher reproductive success (Thingstand 1997, Sokolov 1999, 2002, Bairlein & Winkel 2001).

Despite strong correlations between arrival dates and temperature on the breeding grounds, much of the variance in arrival dates remains unaccounted for. Migration timing may also be influenced by weather along the migration route or in wintering areas (Sokolov 2006), as well as by changes in weather including wind and barometric pressure, and by different factors such as food-supply. Moreover, poor weather at one part of a migration route can stall migratory movements there, even though conditions may be favourable further along the route. Inter-species differences, which have been demonstrated in every relevant study, could be diet-related, and further investigation is needed.

In comparing the changes that have occurred in the spring migration dates of different species, several general patterns emerge:

- Greater changes have occurred in the migration dates of early-migrating species than of latermigrating species. This is associated with weather (including temperature) being more variable earlier than later in the spring (for passage dates see Sokolov *et al.* 1998, for arrival dates at breeding sites see Slagsvold 1976, Loxton & Sparks 1999).
- Greater changes have occurred in the arrival dates of short-distance than long-distance migrants presumably because short-distance migrants generally arrive earlier in spring (same point as above), and have more flexibility in their migration timings (Tryjanowski *et al.* 2002, Butler 2003).
- Greater changes have occurred in the arrival dates of smaller bird than larger birds. This is possibly because the smaller species are more sensitive to annual temperature differences and their effects on food-supplies (although their shorter generation times would also favour more rapid genetic change than is not possible in large longer-lived species).
- Inter-annual variability in the arrival dates of short distance migrants generally showed a correlation with spring temperatures in the breeding locality, but such correlations were less obvious in long-distance migrants (Tryjanowski *et al.* 2002). Moreover, where it has been investigated, weather along the migration corridor often shows a better relationship with arrival dates than does weather at the arrival location (e.g. arrival dates of Barn S wallows *Hinundo rustica* in Britain were better related to weather in France-Spain than to weather in Britain, Huin & Sparks 1998).
- Spring weather has not changed everywhere in the same way. Correspondingly, the degree of change in arrival dates in breeding areas varies across Europe, with arrival dates in most areas getting earlier as spring temperatures increase, but later in those areas with decreasing spring temperatures. In the Mediterranean region, springs are now cooler than in the past, which may slowing the return of long-distance migrants from tropical Africa to the mid- and higher latitudes of Europe.
- Most species still arrive on their breeding grounds earlier in warm springs than in cool springs.

Three explanations may account for the fact that more short-distance migrants than long-distance migrants now arrive earlier in spring and in closer correlation to temperatures on breeding areas. First, a stronger endogenous control of migration in long-distance migrants might inhibit a rapid reaction to a changing environment (Gwinner 1986, Berthold 1996). Short-distance migrants are typically more flexible (facultative) in their response, and more able to alter their behaviour in relation to prevailing conditions. Secondly, the closer a species winters to its breeding areas, the more closely correlated are the day-to-day weather changes in the two areas, enabling short-distance migrants to react more rapidly and appropriately. Thirdly, weather is more variable early in the spring, when most short-distance migrants arrive in their breeding areas, than it is later in the spring, when most long-distance migrants arrive.

In most species, males arrive in breeding areas before females, and studies of first arrival dates typically concern only males. But the two sexes may not necessarily respond in the same way to climate change. A long-term study of arrival dates of male and female Barn Swallows *Hirundo rustica* in Denmark revealed that only males responded to climate amelioration during migration (Møller 2004). Therefore, even though males arrived earlier there was change in mean nesting date, because females arrived no earlier than they did 30 years previously.

Earlier arrival on the breeding grounds could be brought about by (a) increases in the speed of spring migration, (b) earlier departure from wintering areas, (c) over-wintering closer to the breeding grounds, or (d) combinations of these possibilities. More rapid progress in warm than cold springs has been recorded in many migrants from the dates they pass through successive observation sites in different years. Only facultative responses could account for the year-to-year variation in arrival dates seen in many migrants, but this need not exclude the possibility of genetic change in response to longer-term environmental trends, such as climate warming. Moreover, a long-distance migrant, the Garden Warbler (*Sylvia borin*), and a short-distant migrant, the Blackcap (*Sylvia atricapilla*) bred in captivity, showed no difference in heritability of migration dates (Pulido 2005).

#### AUTUMN DATES.

Overall, changes in autumn migration dates over recent decades have been fewer and more variable, than changes in spring dates (Gatter 1992, 2000, Bairlein & Winkel 2001, Sparks & Mason 2001, Jenni & Kéri 2003, Fiedler 2001, Lehikoinen *et al.* 2004, Sokolov 2006; but see Milk 2005). Two patterns have emerged, involving either earlier or later departure over the years. In some single-brooded populations, earlier arrival is followed by earlier breeding and moult, and, subsequently, earlier departure. In such populations, the timing of successive events through the summer, from arrival, egg-laying, hatching, fledging, moult and autumn migration, are correlated with spring temperatures, and show little or no relationship with the prevailing autumn temperature. An earlier spring arrival pulls the whole cycle forward to give an earlier autumn departure (Ellegren 1990, Sokolov *et al.* 1998, Sokolov 2000, 2001, Bojarinova 2002). At Rybachi on the southern Baltic coast, warming in the 1960s and 1980s led to significantly earlier mean dates in spring passage, breeding and autumn migration (Sokolov *et al.* 1999). These changes occurred in both short-distance and long-distance migrants. Most migrants at Rybachy came from northern breeding areas that provided time for only one brood.

Similar relationships were found for single-brooded long-distance migrants passing through the Swiss Alps in autumn (Jenni & Kéri 2003). The long-distance migrants may have benefited from an earlier crossing of the Sahara before its seasonal dry period. In contrast, shorter distance migrants passing over the Alps and wintering north of the Sahara mostly showed a later autumn passage. These are mostly passerine species that can raise more than one brood per year, so could better take advantage of a longer season by remaining longer in their breeding areas. Further south and west in Europe, where individuals can make up to two or three breeding attempts in the same season, departure dates of passerines have tended to get later as local temperatures have risen (Marchant 2002), but it is not known whether this has been associated with a lengthening of the breeding season.

#### 4.2 Changes in the length of migration routes

#### SHORTENING OF MIGRATION ROUTES

So called migration "short-stopping" has occurred in many species as more food has become available at higher latitudes in the wintering range, either through human activities or climate change. Several North American populations of Canada Geese (*Branta Canadensis*) have responded in this way to agricultural changes or to the creation of waterfowl refuges where food is provided (e.g. Terborgh 1989, Hestbeck *et al.* 1991), as have Greylag Geese (*Anser anser*) and Common Cranes (*Grus grus*) in Europe (Rutschke 1990, Alonso *et al.* 1991). Other species of waterfowl have shortened their migrations, apparently in response to warmer winters, as open water has become available nearer the breeding areas. This is manifest by increased numbers wintering in northern and eastern parts of Europe, and declining numbers of the same species wintering in the south and west. Other species of waterfowl have shortened their migrations in apparent response to reduced disturbance and predation, as sanctuaries have been established in areas previously open to hunting.

Examples of migratory short-stopping in raptors include Sharp-shinned Hawks (*Accipiter striatus*) and Merlins (*Falco columbarius*) in parts of North America (Bildstein 2006). For both species an increased dependence upon bird-feeder birds and suburban birds seems to be responsible for the change in migration behaviour.

Shortened migrations are also reflected in the changing distributions of ring recoveries of many other species. Similarly, among 30 species of short-distance or partial migrants breeding in Germany, a tendency towards wintering at higher latitudes was found in ten species, and at lower latitudes in three species, although ringing recoveries are affected by changes in human land use and hunting, as well as in climate (Fiedler *et al.* 2004). More and more European migrants that formerly wintered entirely in tropical and southern Africa are now over-wintering in small but increasing numbers in the Mediterranean. Examples include the Yellow Wagtail (*Motacilla flava*), House Martin (*Delichon urbica*), Osprey (*Pandion haliaetus*), Lesser Kestrel (*Falco naumanni*), and White Stork (*Ciconia ciconia*) (Berthold 2001).

In some regions irruptive migrations have become less frequent than formerly, presumably because the birds have become less numerous or, more often, remain in their breeding areas yearround. Comparing the nineteenth with the twentieth centuries, the Pine Grosbeak (*Pinicola enucleator*) has become a much less frequent visitor to the middle latitudes of Europe. No noticeable invasions of S candinavian Great Tits (*Panus major*) and Blue Tits (*Panus caeruleus*) to Britain have occurred since 1977 and no big invasions of Great Spotted Woodpeckers (*Dendrocopos major*) since 1974. In Germany, invasions of Blue Tits, Waxwings (*Bombicilla garrulous*) and Redpolls (*Carduelis flammea*) have also become less frequent (Fiedler 2003). On the other hand, Two-barred Crossbills (*Loxia leucoptera*) have appeared in Fennoscandia in increasing numbers and frequency, possibly associated with the increased planting of larch (*Larix spp.*) outside their natural range. Likewise, in eastern North America, Evening Grosbeaks (*Hesperiphona vespertina*) have become less numerous, and their invasions less frequent, than previously. This may be associated with reduced outbreaks of Spruce Budworm (*Choristoneura fumiferana*), a favoured summer food, and with increased winter bird feeding by householders.

Other types of change have also occurred. For example, like many other birds that does not start to breed until they are two or more years old, young White Storks (*Ciconia ciconia*) remain in "winter quarters" through their first summer, or migrate only part way towards breeding areas. In recent decades, second-summer birds, whose predecessors used to remain in Africa, have returned in increasing numbers to southern Europe to pass the summer. The mean distance of recoveries of second-summer birds from their natal sites in north Germany was 2,517 km in 1923-75 (N = 120), reducing to 720 km in 1978-96 (Fiedler 2001).

### LENGTHENING OF MIGRATION ROUTES

In species that have expanded their breeding areas to higher latitudes yet have retained the same wintering areas, extension of migration routes has occurred. Northern hemisphere examples include: (1) Black-winged Stilt (*Himantopus himantopus*) which is expanding its breeding range northward (France, Ukraine, Russia) but still winters south of 40°N latitude; (2) European Bee-eater (*Merops* 

*apiaster*) which has expanded northwards in almost all central European countries, yet still winters entirely in Africa south of the Sahara; (3) Citrine Wagtail (*Motacilla citreola*) which is expanding its breeding range from Asia westward into Europe, but still winters in India and southeast Asia (Fieldler 2003). The intra-European routes have increased by up to 1,000 km. These examples represent the kind of changes that must have occurred in many species after each glaciation, when ice receded, and plants and animals spread from lower to higher latitudes.

Most Red-breasted Goose (*Branta ruficollis*) now over-winter in Romania-Bulgaria, some 300-600 km further from their breeding areas than in the 1950s, as former wintering sites in Azerbaijan have been altered by land-use changes (Sutherland & Crockford 1993). In even earlier times, the species was found in winter even further from its breeding areas, being depicted in the art of ancient Egypt (Houlihan 1986). Thus over recorded history this species has both shortened and lengthened its migration routes. Such changes in the length of migrations could initially involve only facultative responses to local conditions, but as migrations lengthen over time, some genetic change seems likely, as they would require changes to regulatory mechanisms.

In some other species, greater proportions of ring recoveries are now being obtained from the distant parts of migration routes than formerly, but it is hard to tell whether this is due to altered migration behaviour, or to increased opportunities for recoveries along the routes (Fiedler *et al.* 2004). In particular, over recent decades hunting has declined much more in the northern and mid latitudes of Europe than further south. This could affect the migratory behaviour of hunted species, or the distribution of their ring recoveries.

#### 4.3 Changes in migratory habits

#### MIGRATORY TO SEDENTARY

At many latitudes many populations of birds have become more sedentary recently. For example, prior to 1940, the Lesser Black-backed Gull (*Larus fuscus*) was almost entirely migratory in Britain, with only a few individuals remaining year-round. Today, large numbers of all age-groups stay for the winter, feeding mainly on refuse dumps which have increased the winter food-supply (Hickling 1984). A similar change has occurred among Herring Gulls *Larus argentatus* in Denmark (Petersen 1984). Another example is the Euras ian Blackbird *Turdus merula*, in which the British and mid European populations have become progressively more sedentary during the last two centuries, as winters have mellowed (Berthold 1990, Main 2000). In both Europe and North America, many seed-eaters are now wintering further north in their breeding range, in association with the provision of suitable food at garden feeders. Winter feeding turned a Great Tit *Parus major* population from migratory to sedentary in the Finnish city of Oulo near the Arctic Circle (Orell & Ojanen 1979). Among many other short-distance and medium-distance migrants, increasing numbers of individuals now winter in areas where they once were wholly migratory, these species developing into typical partial migrants. Some such changes could be genetic in nature, others facultative. Their net effect is to expand the winter avifauna of many high-latitude areas.

#### SEDENTARY TO MIGRATORY

Examples of changes from sedentary to migratory behaviour are less evident, and are generally associated with an extension of breeding range into higher latitudes. For example, the European Serin (*Serinus serinus*) was once restricted to the south of Europe where it is sedentary, but in the early 20th century it spread north, where it became migratory. In more recent years, with milder winters, this migratory population has become partially resident (Berthold 1999). Likewise, since the 19th century, many bird species have spread north in Fenno-Scandia, including the Northern Lapwing (*Vanellus vanellus*), Starling (*Sturnus vulgaris*), Eurasian Blackbird (*Turdus merula*) and Dunnock (*Prunella modularis*). In newly colonised breeding areas they are essentially migratory, whereas further south they are partial migrants or sedentary (Schüz *et al.* 1971).

#### CHANGES IN MIGRATORY DIRECTIONS

A well known example of recent change in migratory direction involves the Blackcap (*Sylvia atricapilla*), a species that is now wintering in increasing numbers in the British Islands. Changes in the direction of migration, leading to the adoption of new wintering areas, also were recorded in

several species in the last century. For example, Little Egrets (*Egretta garzetta*) breeding in southern France migrated southward, some crossing the Sahara to winter in the Afrotropics. Beginning in the 1970s, increasing numbers began to migrate northwest to winter in northern France, southern Britain and Ireland (Marion et al 2000). Some later became resident in these areas, and from the 1990s started to breed there. Similarly, Lesser Black-backed Gulls (*Larus fuscus*) from Europe have begun increasingly to winter on the coasts of eastern North America, with records from Nova Scotia to Florida, a change which requires a much stronger westerly component in the directional preferences. Almost certainly, such marked direction-testing in captivity.

A different type of change is shown by those northern hemisphere species introduced to the southern hemisphere, which have reversed the direction of their spring and autumn journeys, respectively, so that they continue to winter in lower rather than in higher latitudes. This is true, for example, for the European Goldfinch (*Carduelis carduelis*) and others introduced from Europe to New Zealand in the 19th century, and also for the White Stork (*Ciconia ciconia*) which colonised South Africa naturally in the 1930s, and now migrates north to over-winter in Zaire and Rw anda (Harrison et al 1997).

#### 4.4 Discussion

Most of the work cited in this report focuses on particular species or suites of similar species, and it is difficult to determine what proportion of an avifauna's migration habits, other than arrival times, have changed in recent decades. Over the past 50 years, climate changes have been more marked in some regions than in others, and studies reporting changes in migratory behaviour were more likely to be published than those finding no change. However, among the bird species that breed in Britain, 73 provided enough ring recoveries from a sufficiently long period to look for changes in the lengths and directions of migratory movements. Of these, 51 (70%) of these species showed no significant change in either respect during the 20<sup>th</sup> Century, in 15 species movements became shorter, in five species they had become longer, and in two species movements changed in complex ways. The 22 species that evidenced change were significantly more than the four expected on a significance level of 5%. These species included song birds, raptors, waters, waterfowl, and seabirds (G. Siriwardena & C. Wernham, in Wernham et al. 2002). Similarly, of 30 species that breed in Germany, and provide enough ring recoveries, eight species showed decreasing mean recovery distances with time, whereas five species showed increasing mean recovery distances (Fiedler et al 2004). Again the numbers that showed change were significantly greater than the two expected at a significance level of 5%. Such studies confirm that changes in the migration behaviour of birds have been common over the last several decades.

These observations, together with selection experiments on captive birds, serve to confirm that migration is a dynamic phenomenon, subject to continual change in response to prevailing conditions. Some aspects, such as an abrupt change in the direction of migration, imply rapid evolutionary shifts, whereas may represent either genetic or facultative responses to changing conditions. Overall, it seems reasonable to assume that both genetic and facultative responses are likely to be involved, with birds responding initially by facultative means, and, eventually, genetically, as natural selection comes into play. Facultative responses are relatively limited (though variable in extent between species), and if environmental conditions continue to change in the same direction, such responses eventually become inadequate to deal with the new conditions. Only genetic change may enable the population to respond appropriately to conditions beyond the previous range.

Although all major aspects of migratory behaviour have been shown to have heritable components, mainly through artificial selection and cross-breeding in captivity, genetic change is not easily demonstrated in wild populations. The assumption is that, if individuals taken from the wild in different years or from different regions express behavioural differences when held under identical controlled conditions, these differences are likely to have a genetic basis. This conclusion is strengthened if the trend is maintained in captive-bred offspring from these individuals, unaffected by parental effects or experience in the wild. Such a test has been made with Blackcaps (*Sylvia atricapilla*) randomly collected as nestlings from south Germany and hand-raised each year over a 13- year period (Berthold 1998, Berthold & Pulido 2003). In successive samples of birds, the amount of autumn migratory activity was

found to decline, towards a later onset and reduced intensity (less activity per night). This was precisely the result expected if the population had responded genetically to ameliorating environmental conditions, so at least in this species later departure and shorter migration may partly represent a genetic response resulting from natural selection.

Occasionally, a wild population under study has unexpectedly provided evidence for genetic change in some aspect of migration, as in the effect of unusually severe weather on the arrival and departure dates of the swallows. Indications of genetic change in other aspects of migratory behaviour also can be gained from long-term studies of wild bird populations, but these studies are not without problems, and findings can often be interpreted in different ways. Moreover, apart from arrival dates, reliable information on migratory traits is hard to collect from free-living birds (Pulido & Berthold 2004).

In any population the rate of evolutionary change is limited by: (1) the amount of genetic variation within the population at the time; (2) the strength and consistency of the selection pressure; and (3) the extent to which selection on one trait causes parallel changes in others, which could be beneficial or detrimental. Genetic variance is often reduced in populations that have suffered recent numerical declines in which much of the variance was lost (genetic bottlenecks). Such variance can be increased again by immigration and gene flow from another population, or in the longer term by mutation and other means. Immigration can also have deleterious effects if it breaks up locally-adapted gene complexes, and makes the local population less well adapted to local conditions.

Single selection events, such as spring storms, can cause rapid genetic change in the arrival dates of populations, but reversed selection pressures could rapidly reverse the situation, and change arrival dates back to their original state. Selection pressures must act consistently in the same direction over several generations if they are to have any more than temporary effects on the genetic composition of a population. Most selection probably acts to stabilise the gene pools of populations rather than to change them. Moreover, most migratory traits (notably incidence, intensity and timing) are part of a syndrome of co-adapted traits (Pulido & Berthold 2003), so selection on one trait is likely to have strong simultaneous effects on the others. If this is disadvantageous in the new conditions, it may take many generations of selection to dissociate the beneficial traits from the detrimental ones before evolutionary change can occur. Evolutionary change may thus be rapid or slow, depending on the circumstances.

An important aspect of global warming is that temperatures have increased more in some regions than others, and more at some times of year than others. The timing of spring migration could be influenced by weather conditions along the whole migration route, whereas the timing of egg-laying depends of conditions on breeding areas. Any discrepancy between conditions en route and in breeding area can worsen the mismatch between breeding and food supply. Moreover, in the breeding areas themselves, birds may respond more or less rapidly than their food organisms to climatic changes, so that birds cease to arrive and breed at the optimal time. An apparent example is provided by Pied Flycatchers (*Ficedula hypoleuca*) breeding in the Netherlands, where climate change has advanced the food supply on which breeding depends, but spring migration has not advanced sufficiently to allow the birds to make best use of this food supply, as they did in the past (Both & Visser 2001). The birds thereby suffered reduced breeding success, and in areas with the biggest "ecological mismatch," population levels declined by about 90% over a 20-year period (Both et al. 2006). Such mismatches can only be rectified in the long term by changes in the genetic controlling mechanism, so that migration is triggered at an earlier date with respect to prevailing conditions. The longer the migratory journey, the less likely is weather in the breeding and wintering areas to be correlated. Long-distance migrants would have little if any indication on their wintering areas regarding how spring is developing on the breeding ground. Their departure dates from wintering areas are triggered by a photo-periodically timed endogenous rhythm, evolved through natural selection, which ensures that they arrive on breeding areas at an appropriate date (with minor variation according to prevailing conditions). Only by evolution acting on this endogenous control mechanism is the trigger date for departure likely to be changed. In this situation, the selection pressure to migrate earlier is applied in the breeding area, but the action to accomplish an earlier arrival occurs weeks before in the wintering area, hundreds or thousands of kilometres away (Visser et al. 2004). Changing this control mechanism may be a relatively slow process, perhaps explaining why the arrival dates of long-distance migrants are less well correlated with temperatures on breeding areas than are the arrival dates of short-distance migrants, wintering nearer to breeding areas. Another mismatch was found in

the American Robins (*Turdus migratorius*) that breed at high elevations in the Rocky Mountains of Colorado and whose spring arrival dates advanced by two weeks over a 20-year period. At the same time, winter snow-fall increased and took longer to melt, producing a mismatch between arrival dates and the exposure of bare ground feeding areas (Inouye *et al.* 2000).

These examples raise the general point that the photoperiodic responses of many birds, through which their annual cycles are often timed, may become less reliable predictors of seasonal change in food supplies, as climate change alters the phenology of their food supplies. This is not a new problem, as it is faced by all birds as they expand their breeding ranges into different regions, but it will take time for them to adjust genetically to new situations, during which time they could perform less well than usual (though not necessarily with effects on population levels).

## 5. RECENT CHANGES IN THE DISTRIBUTION OF BIRDS

During the last 150 years, the annual average temperature in many places of the northern hemisphere increased by as much as a few degrees centigrade, and the May-June isotherms moved up to several hundred kilometres northwards and up to several hundred metres up mountainsides. Over the same period many mid-latitude birds species increased and spread northwards, while other more northern species declined and retreated yet further north. Such range changes usually have been attributed to climate change (Burton 1995), but often without considering the possible effects of other potential causes as human impacts on habitat, changes in the public perception of birds, change in food-supplies or available nest sites, etc. Hence, some of the changes may well have been due to a combination of climate change and other factors. Almost always, uncertainty hangs over any explanation based on correlative analyses (New ton 2003).

That said climatic change as an explanation of changes in ranges of birds is based on two things. First that many of the changes are latitudinal (i.e., towards the north in the northern hemisphere), and second that for many species of birds reproductive and survival rates are clearly influenced by weather (Newton 1998). Hence, resident birds that suffer high mortality in hard winters, for example, might be expected to increase and spread further north during a run of mild winters. Some might then compete with more northern species, causing them to retreat even further north.

During the twentieth century, major northward expansions in Europe occurred in the Grey heron (*Ardea cinerea*), Lapwing (*Vanellus vanellus*), Common Starling (*Sturnus vulgaris*), Wood-pigeon (*Columba palumbus*), Rook (*Corvus furgileus*) and Tawny Owl (*Strix aluco*). In some pairs of closely related species, as the southern form pushed northwards, its northern counterpart retreated. This occurred in both the Chaffinch (*Fringilla coelebs*) and the Brambling (*F. montifringilla*). In total, 39 species of European landbirds have clearly expanded their ranges toward north during the 2oth Century (Newton 2003).

#### 6. CONSEQUENCES OF THESE CHANGES

Generally, warmer climates would lead to an increase in the number of residents populations in Europe, first as already sedentary populations in crease, second as obligate and facultative partial migrants become more sedentary, and third, to a limited extent, as some populations of complete migrants also become sedentary. At the same time, long-distance migrants would shorten their migratory movements. As a consequence of such changes the phenomenon of migration, itself, would be at risk. Specific predictions include:

- Greater survivorship among resident populations in high-latitude areas.
- Increased competition between long-distance migrants and residents on the breeding grounds.
- Increasing risk of ecological mismatches between migratory birds and their food-supplies more probable among long-distance migrants.
- Changes to migratory directions and the choice of new, closer winter quarters.
- A reduction in the migratory distance to the winter quarters,
- Increasingly delayed departure times.

- Earlier return times.
- A substantial shift away from migratory behavior, particularly long-distance migration, including a reduction in large-scale movements along well-established thermal corridors.

## Error! Objects cannot be created from editing field codes.

## 7. OTHER RELATED IMPACTS

Migratory birds are sometimes killed in large numbers by storms encountered when they are migrating. Climatologists predict that, in many regions, storms and other extreme events are likely to increase in severity and frequency in the future. We can expect, therefore, that migrants will suffer greater weather-induced losses, which could cause noticeable reductions in their populations, regardless of other changes.

Climate change is not the only potential risk for migratory birds. Several well-described impacts of habitat manipulations and infrastructures are now negatively affecting populations of birds and their impacts may be additive to those of climate change. Included among them are power lines and wind farms that offer potential and real hazards for several migratory birds.

Collision with power lines is considered to be an important death cause for some bird species (Crivelli *et al.* 1988, Fiedler & Wissner 1980, Morkill & Anderson 1991). For most species involved in collisions, how ever, death rates at the population level are low (Brown 1993, Hugie et al. 1993). Most publications about collision of birds with electric wires focus on transmission lines (from 220 kV to higher tension) and, specifically on ground wire (static wire) collisions (Beaulaurier 1981, Faanes 1987, Heijnis 1980).

Non-conducting static wires are usually installed in transmission lines above the conductor wires to intercept lightning strikes and prevent power outages. They are generally smaller in diameter than the conductor wires. Consequently, according to some authors, birds often see and avoid the conductor wires only to strike the less visible static wire. Ground wires are believed to cause most of the collisions (Faanes 1987), and many different methods have been used in attempts to diminish mortality by such collisions including marking ground wires (Alonso et al. 1994, Beaulaurier 1981, Faanes 1987, Heijnis 1980, Miller 1993, Morkill & Anderson 1991). The attention given on ground wire marking has created the general idea that only transmission lines are important obstacles for birds, and not the much more abundant distribution lines (usually without ground wires), with a tension lower than 220 kV. Varying success is obtained with ground wire marking, but over the years various solutions have been published and one might expect that nature managers have access to those solutions.

Another type of accidents involving power lines is electrocution when the bird make contact with the wire while perching on conductive pylon. Electrocution from electric power lines carrying a current of between 16 and 45 Kv was described as the major risk factor for several populations of raptors (Ferrer & de la Riva 1987, Negro 1987, Ferrer et al. 1991, Ferrer 2001) including the endangered Spanish Imperial Eeagle (*Aquila adalberti*) during the 1980s and 1990s (Ferrer 2001), accounting for 46% of all adult deaths and 40% of all immature deaths in this species.

In Spain, regulatory and technical solutions largely solved this problem in the 1990s (Ferrer & Janss 1999), and today a significant reduction in deaths due to powerline collisions is evident (i.e., >84% reduction in collisions involving Spanish Imperial Eagles, Ferrer & Penteriani 2007). Regretfully, not all the members of Council of Europe have adopted similar regulations regarding new powerlines and retrofitting particularly dangerous existing lines.

Some measures taken to reduce climate change, including the development of wind farms, could, themselves, severely impact migratory birds. Despite the obvious benefit of wind turbines as a clean energy source, it is known that wind farms can potentially have adverse effects on birds, notably fatality through collision with rotating turbine rotor blades (e.g. Langston and Pullan 2003). This is particularly so if wind farms are improperly sited along major migration routes, where large numbers of migrants could then be destroyed via collisions with the rotor blades. The use of wind as a renewable energy source has been increasing in many countries. At the current level of development, wind turbines have been estimated to comprise less than 0.01% of the total annual avian mortality

from human-caused sources in the USA (Erickson, 2002). Although such analyses do not acknowledge that some bird species may potentially be affected more by wind turbines than other anthropogenic mortality sources, at least one study has concluded that wind turbines, when properly sited, can have minimal impact in comparison with other factors (Fielding et al. 2006). Nevertheless, the potential for wind farms to cause problems for bird populations should not be underestimated (Hunt 2002), so the coexistence of birds and wind farms would be enhanced by a more detailed approach to this conservation issue and a greater understanding of the factors involved in influencing collision fatality (Barrios and Rodríguez 2004, De Lucas, Janss & Ferrer 2007). Fortunately, we now have more scientific information about factors affecting bird mortality in wind farms as well as predictive methods to avoid dangerous locations for these wind turbines (De Lucas 2007). Again a European directive would be welcome.

#### 8. LONG-DISTANCE MIGRATION AND BIRD BIODIVERSITY

The long-distance movements of birds may have important implications in avian speciation and, in turn avian diversity. As we stated above, one of the likely responses to global climate change in birds is a substantial shift away from migratory behavior, particularly long-distance migration, including a reduction in large-scale movements along well-established thermal corridors.

This then begs the question: What might be the consequences of the loss of long-distance, transequatorial bird migration? One of the unintended consequences of millions of birds flying long distances into, out of, and within the tropics each year is that a small but significant portion of the migrants get lost. Approximately half of all migrants in autumn are juveniles, and this inexperienced age class is particularly likely to become disoriented or wind drifted during migration. This results in the phenomenon of avian vagrancy. "Vagrants" are members of a species that appear from time to time in geographic areas where they do not regularly breed, over-winter, or migrate through. Although relatively uncommon, vagrancy is an inevitable consequence of long-distance migration. The extent to which vagrancy occurs is evidenced by the fact that more than one third of all bird species on the northern California bird list are vagrants, as are more than 50% of those on the British bird list.

Vagrancy, in turn, can result, in "migration dosing," in which flocks of migrants simultaneously arrive at sites tangential or beyond traditional wintering areas, and consequentially fail to return to their intended destinations the next spring. Although most of these vagrants die before breeding, in some instances they eventually breed in the new location and, over time, either by random genetic drift, natural selection, or both, eventually diverge from their parental stock and develop into a new species.

An extreme case of migration dosing can be found in the South Pacific accipiters, a species group of bird-eating raptors that is believed to have first evolved in Asia. One particularly migratory representative of this genus is the exceptionally long- and pointed-winged Chinese goshaw k (*Accipiter soloensis*), which each autumn travels along the East-Asian Oceanic Flyway from breeding areas in eastern Asia to the South Pacific islands of the Philippines and Indonesia. In El Nino years, "migration overshoots" by this species create opportunities for migration dosing east of Wallace's Line in Wallacea, when groups of this migrant fly beyond their normal wintering areas, land on isolated in the region and subsequently breed and speciate there. Another example of migration dosing involves the Swainson's Hawk, a long-distance, North America migratory raptor that has given rise to both the Hawaiian Hawk and Galapagos Hawk via this speciation process. Although the extent to which migration dosing contributes to avian diversity overall remains unclear, it is clear long-distance migration sometimes acts as an engine of biodiversity, and as such merits protection in its own right.

## 9. CONSERVATION IN PROTECTED NETWORKS. IT IS ENOUGH?

The establishment of protected areas has been the core aspect of conservation action throughout the world. Initial actions to preserve nature have included the creation of national parks, reserves, and sanctuaries. A principal assumption of this action was that nature conservation was incompatible with human use and, sometimes, even human presence. From a scientific point of view, it is clear that this approach was necessary, especially during the first half of the past century, when human attitudes tow ard biodiversity were incomplete and wholesale transformation of natural landscapes was underway. Since then is land biogeography theory and metapopulation models, among others, have resulted in a better appreciation for the importance of ecologically-based reserve design that takes into account minimal areas and connectivity needed to sustain viable populations of species. As a result, individual states and groups of states have begun to develop networks of reserves, which together can function to reduce the risk of regional extirpation. Examples include the European Union's Natura 2000 Network.

That said there are relatively few examples of truly biologically functional networks of protected areas. This, together with the fact that climate models now suggest that significant fractions of the plant and animals we are now trying to protect inside existing Natural Park networks are going to be out of them in a few decades, suggests that fundamental shift in reserve and network design is needed. Simply put if the existing components of biodiversity are to be preserved, a more flexible reserve system compatible with human activities that promotes public participation and is complementary to the Natural park network is needed. It is time to think about these new opportunities and obligations.

## **10. TOWARD ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT**

If existing natural park networks are not enough what can we do to preserve bird biodiversity in the face of Global Change? Now is the time to change our conservation policies. Obviously we don't have a definitive answer but we do offer several suggestions.

#### 10.1 Establish a surve illance network for migratory faun a at continental scale

Birds are wonderful indicators of biodiversity and environmental change, including climate change. They are popular in Europe among birdwatchers, amateur naturalists, and professional scientists, and there are rich sources of long-term data regarding their abundances and distributions. As such they are perfect environmental sentinels of climate change. Their populations and, in particular their migratory populations, should be monitored in the face of global climate change. This is especially so at important regional and continental bottlenecks. We recommend selecting several sites as the basis for a functional network of migratory birds in Europe. Especially we suggest the following sites:

- The Strait of Gibraltar near Tarifa, Spain
- Falsterbö in south-western Sweden
- Elat in southern Israel
- Fair Isle in northern Scotland
- Texel in north-western Holland
- South of Italy, including the Strait of Messina

Most of these sites already are conducting long-term monitoring programs that started in the middle of 20th Century. These monitoring programs should continue and efforts should be made to collect and analyze data using a common protocol so that direct, inter-site comparisons are possible. International coordination is needed to accomplish this. At the same time these sites can work locally to introduce and build support among regional populations for charismatic migratory birds, which can then become flagships for broader conservation issues.

The above-mentioned watch sites are the minimum necessary to start. Obviously, as number of observatories in the network increases the quality of the information also increase. Therefore, the network must be open, free and constituted by independent watch sites, ideally as much as possible.

In addition to developing a network of watchsites, we also need to agree upon a set of representative species to be monitored. These species should chosen on the basis of their utility as indicators of more difficult to follow but highly significant biological variables, including total biodiversity, and early warning signals of loss of specific critical habitats. Specifically we recommend including:

#### Raptors and other soaring birds

Among birds, raptors are one of the best indicators of biodiversity, including also additional features such a long historical data series, a generally well known ecology, an easy detection and

identification, a high level in trophic chains and a big size that make possible the use of a large set of technology difficult to use in smaller birds. Some raptor species are good examples of mountain fauna such as Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) or Bonelli's Eagles (*Hieraaetus fasciatus*), a habitat under risk with the increasing temperatures. Some raptors feed on my types of prey, whereas others specialize on certain taxonomic groups. For example the Short-toed Eagle (*Circaetus gallicus*) feeds largely on reptiles Raptors include many insectivorous species including small falcons and owls, birdeating species including large falcons and accipiters, mammak-eating species including hawks, eagles, and owls), and carrion-eating species including vultures and kites. So, a broad number of different aspects would be followed using raptors as indicators. Some other species of soaring birds such as storks and cranes would be included.



Figure 1 | Biodiversity estimates are higher at sites occupied by five top predators than at randomly selected sites or at sites occupied by species from lower trophic levels (taxonomic controls). Red bars, breeding sites; blue bars, randomly selected spatial-control sites. Values represent averages ± 1 s.e. a, Numbers of all aviar species. b, Numbers of tavian species classified as vulnerable. c, Numbers of tree species. d, Percentage of maximum attainable avianspeciesrichness in a hypothetical system of protected areas, as estimated by gap analysis<sup>78</sup>.

Figure from Sergio *et al.* (2005) showing the relationship between raptor community and biodiversity at different taxonomical levels.

Desirable properties for biological indicators			
(Woodward et al. 1999)	How raptors rank <sup>a</sup>		
Politically appealing	++		
Known statistical properties	++		
Logically linked	++		
Allows scaling	++		
Representative	+		
Leading versus lagging	++		
Clearly identifiable	++		
Cost-effective	++		
Indicative of cause	++		
Sensitive	++		
Keystone attributes	++		
Umbrella species	++		
Genetics	++		
Symbiotic associations	-		

Table 1. Why migrating birds of prey are great biological indicators. (Nonexclusive desirable properties for biological indicators are presented in the order in which they appeared in Woodward et al. [1999].)

a++ = easily meet or exceed criterion; + = marginally meet criterion; - = do not meet criterion.

#### From Bildstein (2001)

#### Aquatic birds

Aquatic birds should be included since they depend upon wetlands changes to which are expected to occur as a result of climate change. So, several changes are expected in relation to abundance and distribution of waterfowl and waders. As in raptors, aquatic species have been object of major attention by ornithologists and scientists for some time and we now possess long datasets regarding their distributions and abundances changes. Examples of aquatic birds that should be monitored include the Greylag Goose (*Anser anser*) and the Ruff (*Philomachus pugnax*),

#### Seabirds

Because climate change is expected to affect sea levels especially in the Mediterranean basin, monitoring seabird species is highly recommended. Actually there are several programs following migration in this group of birds that must be maintained and coordinated at continental scale.

#### Son gbirds

There is a long tradition of work on song birds throughout Europe. Different species of song birds depend upon different habitats and prey bases and 4-6 species of these birds should be identified for focused monitoring.

To be effective, all these monitoring efforts, and the resulting data, must be communicate to the scientific community for their use and research, providing a good way to interchange new findings. The recent experience in the first international meeting on Bird Migration and Global Change, hosted in Algeciras (Spain, 2007), indicates the value of regularly scheduled international meetings to favour the interchange of new ideas and recent findings, as well as to coordinate monitoring efforts.

#### 10.2 A new dynamic system of protected areas

The establishment of protected areas has been the core aspect of conservation action for some time. European Union implemented also the Natura 2000 Network. This approach, while important and necessary is insufficient to prevent loss of biodiversity that is moving across the continent. It is time to think about other complementary possibilities.

Additionally to the Natura 2000 network, we recommend land custody or stewardship in the form kind of private voluntary agreements between landowners and a custody or stewardship agent (usually a non-profit organization) who decide to collaborate in protecting biodiversity and land use through economic incentives for the land owner. Land custody provides a more flexible approach to biodiversity protection across a climatically changing than does a more static network of government-owned protected areas, and also increases a sense of public owner for the underlying natural resource. One option for increasing public interest in land custody would be to couple participation with tax incentives for land owners.

In 1991, the Standing Committee of the Council of Europe adopted a recommendation ( $n^{\circ}$  25) on the conservation of natural areas outside protected areas proper. The recommendation indicates that that certain forms of action including land custody have proved particularly effective in the countries where they have been adopted and that flora and fauna conservation is possible only in the context of a regional planning policy conserving their environments and habitats, and goes on to encourage the granting of tax concessions to owners who comply with these objectives. Unfortunately there is no common policy for carrying this out.

A second recommendation is to investigate the use of linear infrastructures including power-line, road, railway rights-of-ways as a supplementary wildlife corridors, after adequate interventions. A working example of this approach involves REE, the main transporter of electrical power in Spain, which is now supporting an experimental project to create micro-islands under electric power-lines to increases local biodiversity and to create a net of ecological "stepping stones" across the country. The same idea could be applied to road and railway rights-of-ways, and to coastlines, which also could serve as movement corridors for plants and animals during periods of climate change.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

# (Selected relevant references about effect of climate change on migratory birds, including those cited in the text)

- Able, K. P. & Able, M. A. (1995). Interactions in the flexible orientation system of a migratory bird. *Nature* **375:** 230-232.
- Able, K. P. & Belthoff, J. R. (1998). Rapid 'evolution' of migratory behaviour in the introduced House Finch of eastern North America. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* **265**: 2063-2071.
- Aebischer, A., Perrin, M., Krieg, M., Struder, J. & Meyer, D. R. (1996). The role of territory choice and arrival date on breeding success in the Savi's Warbler *Locustella luscinioides*. J. Avian Biol. 27: 143-152.
- Afton, A. D. & Ankney, C. D. (1991). Nutrient reserve dynamics of breeding Lesser Scaup: a test of competing hypotheses. *Condor* 93: 89-97.
- Agostini, N., Baghino, L., Coleiro, C., Corbi, F. & Premuda, G. (2002). Circuitous autumn migration in the Short-toed Eagle (*Circaetus gallicus*). J. Raptor Research **36:** 111-114.
- Åkesson, S. (2003). Avian long-distance navigation: experiments with migratory birds. Pp. 471-492 in 'Avian Migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Åkesson, S. & Hedenström, A. (2000). Wind selectivity of migratory flight departures in birds. *Behav*. *Ecol. Sociobiol.* **47:** 140-144.
- Åkesson, S., Hedenström, A. & Hasselquist, D. (1995). Stopover and fat accumulation in passerine birds in autumn at Ottenby, southeastern Sweden. *Ornis Svecica* **5:** 81-91.

- Åkesson, S., Karlsson, L., Walinder, G. & Alerstam, A. (1996). Bimodel orientation and the occurrence of temporary reverse bird migration during autumn in south Scandinavia. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **38:** 293-302.
- Alerstam, T. (1979). Optimal use of wind by migrating birds: combined drift and overcompensation. J. Theor. Biol. 79: 341-353.
- Alerstam, T. (1988). Findings of dead birds drifted ashore reveal catastrophic mortality among early spring migrants, especially Rooks *Corvus fnugilevus*, over the southern Baltic Sea. *Anser* 27: 181-218.
- Alerstam, T. (1990). Bird Migration. Cambridge, University Press.
- Alerstam, T. (1990a). Ecologic al caus es and consequences of bird orientation. *Experimentia* **46:** 405-415.
- Alerstam, T. (1991a). Ecological causes and consequences of bird orientation. Pp. 202-225 in 'Orientation in Birds'. (ed. P. Berthold). Berlin, Birkhäuser.
- Alerstam, T. (1991b). Bird flight and optimal migration. TREE 7: 210-215.
- Alerstam, T. (1996). The geographical scale factor in orientation of migrating birds. J. Exper. Biol. **199:** 9-19.
- Alerstam, T. (2001). Detours in bird migration. J. Theor. Biol. 194: 1-13.
- Alerstam, T. & Enckell, P. H. (1979). Unpredictable habitats and evolution of bird migration. *Oikos* 33: 228-232.
- Alerstam, T. & Hedenström, A. (1998). The development of bird migration theory. J. Avian Biol. 29: 343-369.
- Alerstam, T. & Hedenström, A. (1998a). Optimal migration. JAvian Biol. 29: 337-636.
- Alerstam, T., Hedenström, A. & Åkesson, S. (2003). Long distance migration: evolution and determinants. *Oikos* 103: 247-260.
- Alerstam, T. & Högstedt, G. (1980). Spring predictability and leapfrog migration. Ornis Scand. 11: 196-200.
- Alerstam, T. & Högstedt, G. (1982). Bird migration and reproduction in relation to habitats for survival and breeding. *Ornis Scand.* 13: 25-37.
- Alerstam, T. & Lindström, Å. (1990). Optimal bird migration: the relative importance of time, energy and safety. Pp. 331-351 in '*Bird Migration: The physiology and ecophysiology*'. (ed. E. Gwinner). Berlin, Springer Verlag.
- Alisauskas, R. T. (2002). Arctic climate, spring nutrition, and recruitment in midcontinent Lesser Snow Geese. J. Wildl. Manag. 66: 181-193.
- Allen, P. E., Goodrich, L. J. & Bildstein, K. L. (1996). Within- and among-year effects of cold fronts on migrating raptors at Hawk Mountain, Pennsylvania, 1934-1991. *Auk* **113**: 329-338.
- Alon, D., Granit, B., Shamoun-Baranes, J., Leshem, Y., Kirwan, G. M. & Shirihai, H. (2004). Soaring bird migration over northern Israel in autumn. *Brit. Birds* **97:** 160-182.
- Alonso, J. C., Alonso, J. A. & Bautista, L. M. (1991). Carrying capacity of staging areas and facultative migration extension in Common Cranes. J. Appl. Ecol. **31**: 212-222.
- Alonso, J. C., Bautista, L. M. & Alonso, J. A. (2004). Family-based territoriality vs flocking in wintering Common Cranes *Gnus gnus. J. Avian Biol.* **35**: 434-444.
- Ardia, D. R. & Bildstein, K. L. (1997). Sex-related differences in habitat selection in wintering American Kestrels, *Falco sparverius*. Anim. Behav. 53: 1305-1311.
- Askins, R. A., Lynch, J. F. & Greenberg, R. (1990). Population declines in migratory birds in eastern North America. *Curr. Omithol.* 7: 1-57.

- Askins, R. A. & Philbrick, M. J. (1987). Effect of changes in regional forest abundance on the decline and recovery of a forest bird community. *Wilson Bull.* **99:** 7-21.
- Askins, R. A., Philbrick, M. J. & Sugeno, D. S. (1987). Relationship between the regional abundance of forest and the composition of forest bird communities. *Biol. Conserv.* **39**: 129-152.
- Avery, M., Springer, P. F. & Cassel, J. F. (1977). Weather influences on nocturnal bird mortality at a North Dakota tower. *Wilson Bull.* **89:** 291-299.
- Avery, M. C., Springer, P. F. & Dailey, N. S. (1978). Avian mortality at man-made structures: an annotated bibliography. Washington, D.C., U.S. Fish & Wildl. Serv.
- Bairlein, F. (2001). Results of bird ringing in the study of migration routes. *Ardea* **89**(special issue): 7-19.
- Bairlein, F. (2003). Nutritional strategies in migratory birds. Pp. 321-332 in 'Avian Migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Bairlein, F. (2003a). The study of bird migrations some future perspectives. Bird Study 50: 243-253.
- Bairlein, F. & Winkel, W. (2001). Birds and climate change. Pp. 278-282 in 'Climate of the 21st century: changes and risks'. (eds. J. L. Lozan, H. Grasse & P. Hupfer). Hamburg, Wissenschaftliche Auswertungen.
- Baker, A. J. (2002). The deep roots of bird migration: Inferences from the historical record preserved in DNA. *Ardea* **90**, **special issue:** 503-513.
- Baker, K. (1977). Westward vagrancy of Siberian passerines in autumn 1975. Bird Study 24: 233-242.
- Baker, R. R. (1978). The evolutionary ecology of animal migration. London, Hodder & Stoughton.
- Baker, R. R. (1980). The significance of the Lesser Black-backed Gull to models to bird migration. *Bird Study* 27: 41-50.
- Ball, R. M., Freeman, S., James, F. C., Bermingham, E. & Avise, J. C. (1988). Phylogeographic population structure of Red-winged Blackbirds assessed by mitochrondrial DNA. *Proc. Nat. A cad. Sci. USA* 85: 1558-1562.
- Ball, T. (1983). The migration of geese as an indicator of climate change in the southern Hudson Bay region between 1715 and 1851. *Clim. Change* **5**: 85-93.
- Bauchinger, U., Goymann, W. & Jenni-Eiermann, S. (2005). Bird hormones and bird migrations. New York, New York Academy of Sciences.
- Bauchinger, U. & Klaassen, M. (2005). Longer days in spring than in autumn accelerate migration speed of passerine birds. J. Avian. Biol. **36:** 3-5.
- Baudinette, R. V. & Schmidt-Nielsen, K. (1974). Energy-cost of gliding flight in Herring Gulls. *Nature* 248: 83-84.
- Bearhop, S., Fiedler, W., Furness, R. W., Votier, S. C., Waldron, S., Newton, J., Bowen, G. J., Berthold, P. & Farnsworth, K. (2005). Assortative mating as a mechanism for rapid evolution of a migratory divide. *Science* 310: 502-503.
- Bearhop, S., Hilton, G. M., Votier, S. C. & Waldron, S. (2004). Stable isotope ratios indicate that body condition in migrating passerines is influenced by winter habitat. *Proc. R. Roc. Lond. B* (*Suppl. 4*) 271: 215-218.
- Bednarz, J. C. & Kerlinger, P. (1989). Monitoring hawk populations by counting migrants. Pp. 328-342 in '*Proceedings of the northeast raptor management symposium and workshop*'. (ed. B. G. Pendleton). Washington, D.C., National Wildlife Federation.
- Bednarz, J. C., Klein, D., Goodrich, L. J. & Senner, S. E. (1990). Migration counts of raptors at Hawk Mountain, Pennsylvania, as indicators of population trends, 1934-1986. Auk 107: 96-109.
- Bell, C. P. (2000). Process in the evolution of bird migration and pattern in avian ecogeography. J. Avian. Biol. **31:** 258-265.

- Belliure, J., Sorci, G., Møller, A. P. & Clobert, J. (2000). Dispersal distances predict subspecies richness in birds. *J. Evol. Biol.* **13**: 480-487.
- Bensch, S., Hasselquist, D., Hedenström, A. & Ottosson, U. (1991). Rapid moult among palaearctic passerines in West Africa an adaptation to the oncoming dry season? *Ibis* **133**: 47-52.
- Benson, A. M. & Winker, K. (2001). Timing of breeding range occupancy among high-latitude passerine migrants. *Auk* **118**: 513-519.
- Bergmann, F. (1998). Long-term trends in the timing of autumn migration in European passerines. *Proc. Int. Orn. Congr.* 22.
- Bernis, F. (1975). Migration of Fakoniformes and *Ciconia* spp. through the Straits of Gibraltar. Part 2. *Ardeola* **21**: 489-580.
- Berthold, P. (1975). Migration: control and metabolic physiology. Pp. 77-128 in 'Avian Biology, Vol 5'. (eds. D. S. Farner & J. R. King). New York, Academic Press.
- Berthold, P. (1990). Genetics of migration. '*Bird migration. Physiology and ecophysiology*'. (ed. E. Gwinner). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Berthold, P. (1993). Bird migration. A general survey. Oxford, University Press.
- Berthold, P. (1995). Microevolution of migratory behaviour illustrated by the Blackcap Sylvia atricapilla 1993 Witherby Lecture. Bird Study 42: 89-100.
- Berthold, P. (1996). Control of bird migration. London, Chapman & Hall.
- Berthold, P. (1998). Bird migration: genetic programs with high adaptability. Zoology Analysis of Complex Systems 101: 235-245.
- Berthold, P. (1999). A comprehensive theory for the evolution, control and adaptability of avian migration. *Ostrich* **70**: 1-12.
- Berthold, P. (2001). Bird migration: a general survey (2nd edition). Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Berthold, P., Helbig, A. H., Mohr, G. & Querner, U. (1992). Rapid microevolution of migratory behaviour in a wild bird species. *Nature* **360**: 668-670.
- Berthold, P. & Helbig, A. J. (1992). The genetics of bird migration: stimulus, timing and direction. *Ibis* 134: 35-40.
- Berthold, P. & Querner, U. (1981). Genetic basis of migrating behaviour in European warblers. *Science* **212**: 77-79.
- Berthold, P. & Terrill, S. B. (1991). Recent advances in studies of bird migration. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 22: 357-378.
- Biebach, H., Biebach, I., Friedrich, W., Heine, G., Partecke, J. & Schmidt, D. (2000). Strategies of passerine migration across the Mediterranean Sea and the Sahara Desert: a radar study. *Ibis* 142: 623-634.
- Biebach, H., Friedrich, W. & Heine, G. (1986). Interaction of body mass, fat, foraging and stopover period in trans-Sahara migrating passerine birds. *Oecologia* **69**: 370-379.
- Bilcke, G. (1984). Residence and non-residence in passerines dependence on the vegetation structure. Ardea 72: 223-227.
- Bildstein, K. L. (1998). Long-term counts of migrating raptors: A role for volunteers in wildlife research. J. Wildl. Manag. 62: 435-445.
- Bildstein, K. L. (2004). Raptor migration in the neotropics: Patterns, processes, and consequences. *Omitologia Neotropical* **15**: 83-99.
- Bildstein, K. L. & Zalles, J. I. (2001). Raptor migration along the Mesoamerican Land Corridor. Pp. 119-141 in 'Hawkwatching in the Americas'. (eds. K. L. Bildstein & D. Klem). North Wales, Hawk Migration Association of North America.

- Bildstein, K. L. & Zalles, J. I. (2003). Old World versus New World long distance migration in accipiters, buteos and fakons: the interplay of migration ability and global biogeography. *Conference Proceedings*.
- Bingham, V. P., Budzynski, C. A. & Voggenhuber, A. (2003). Migratory systems as adaptive responses to spatial and temporal variability in orientation stimuli. Pp. 457-470 in 'Avian Migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Bingman, V. P. (1987). Earths magnetism and the nocturnal orientation of migratory European Robins. *Auk* 104: 523-525.
- Boddy, M. (1983). Factors influencing timing of autumn dispersal or migration in first-year Dunnocks and Whitethroats. *Bird Study* **30**: 39-46.
- Böhning-Gaese, K. (1988). The influence of migratory behaviour on the life history, ecology, and biogeographic distribution of birds. *Proc. Int. Om. Congr.* 22.
- Böhning-Gaese, K., González-Guzmán, L. I. & Brown, J. H. (1998). Constraints on dispersal and the evolution of the avifauna of the northern hemisphere. *Evol. Ecol.* **12**: 767-783.
- Bohning-Gaese, K. & Lemoine, N. (2004). Importance of climate change for the ranges, communities and conservation of birds. *Adv. Ecol. Res.* **35**: 211-236.
- Bohning-Gaese, K. & Oberrath, R. (2003). Macroecology of habitat choice in long-distance migratory birds. *Oecologia* **137**: 296-303.
- Böhning-Gaese, K., Taper, M. I. & Brown, J. H. (1993). Are declines in North American insectivorous songbirds due to causes on the breeding range? *Conserv. Biol.* **7**: 76-86.
- Both, C., Sanz, J. J., Artemyev, A. V., Blaauw, V., Cowie, R. J., Dekhuizen, A. J., Enemar, A., Jarvinen, A., Nyhom, N. E. I., Potti, J., Ravussin, P. A., Silverin, B., Slater, F. M., Sokolov, L. B., Visser, M. E., Winkel, W., Wright, J. & Zang, H. (2006). Pied Flycatchers travelling from Africa to breed in Europe: differential effects of winter and migration conditions on breeding date. *Ardea* 94: in press.
- Both, C. & Visser, M. E. (2001). Adjustment to climatic change is constrained by arrival date in a long-distance migratory bird. *Nature* **411**: 296-298.
- Bourne, W. R. P. (1967). Long distance vagancy in the petrels. Ibis 109: 141-167.
- Bradley, N. L., Leopold, A. C., Ross, J. & Huffaker, W. (1999). Phenological changes reflect climate change in Wisconsin. *Proc. Nat. A cad. Sci. USA* **96**: 9701-9704.
- Brooke, R. K. (1994). Subspeciation studies and our knowledge of migration and other movements in southern African birds. *Ostrich* **65**.
- Brooke, R. K., Grobler, J. H. & Irwin, M. P. S. (1972). A study of the migratory eagles Aquila nipalensis and A. pomarina (Aves: Accipitridae) in southern Africa, with comparative notes on other large raptors. Occ. Pap. natn. Mus. Rhod. 1972 B5 (2): 61-114.
- Brown, C. R. & Brown, M. B. (1998). Intense natural selection on body size and wing and tail asymmetry in Cliff Swallows during severe weather. *Evolution* **52**: 1461-2475.
- Brown, C. R. & Brown, M. B. (2000). Weather-mediated natural selection on arrival time in Cliff Swallows (*Petrochelidon pyrthonata*). Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 47: 339-345.
- Browne, S. J. & Aebischer, N. J. (2001). The role of agricultural intensification in the decline of the Turtle Dove *Streptopelia turtur*. English Nature Research Report No 421. English Nature, Peterborough.
- Browne, S. J. & Aebischer, N. J. (2003). Temporal changes in the migration phenology of Turtle Doves *Streptopelia turtur* in Britain, based on sightings from coastal bird observatories. *J Avian Biol.* 34: 65-71.

- Bruderer, B. & Liechti, F. (1999). Bird migration across the Mediterranean. *Proc. Int. Om. Congr.* 22: 1983-1999.
- Butcher, G. S., Niering, W. A., Barry, W. J. & Goodwin, R. H. (1981). Equilibrium biogeography and the size of nature preserves: an avian case study. *Oecologia* **49**: 29-37.
- Butler, C. J. (2003). The disproportionate effect of global warming on arrival dates of short-distance migratory birds in North America. *Ibis* **145**: 484-495.
- Butler, R. W. (2000). Stormy seas for some North American songbirds: are declines related to severe storms during migration? *Auk* **117**: 518-522.
- Butler, R. W., Williams, T. D., Warnock, N. & Bishop, M. A. (1997). Wind assistance: a requirement for migration of shorebirds? *Auk* 114: 456-466.
- Cantos, F. J. & Telleria, J. L. (1994). Stopover site fidelity of four migrant warblers in the Iberian Peninsula. *J. Avian Biol.* 25: 131-134.
- Capen, D. E., Crenshaw, W. J. & Coulter, M. W. (1974). Establishing breeding populations of Wood Ducks by relocating wild broods. *J. Wildl. Manage.* **38**: 253-256.
- Casement, M. B. (1966). Migration across the Mediterranean observed by radar. Ibis 108: 461-491.
- Castro, G. (1988). Ecophysiology of Sanderlings migrating to four different latitudes. Thesis, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia.
- Chamberlain, C. P., Blum, J. D., Holmes, R. T., Feng, X., Sherry, T. W. & Graves, G. R. (1997). The use of isotope tracers for identifying populations of migratory birds. *Oecolo gia* **109**: 132-141.
- Clarke, W. E. (1912). Studies in bird migration. Vols. 1 & 2. Edinburgh, London, Oliver & Boyd, Gurney & Jackson.
- Cochran, W. W., Mouritsen, H. & Wikelski, M. (2004). Migrating songbirds recalibrate their magnetic compass daily from twilight cues. *Science* **304**: 405-408.
- Coppack, T. & Both, C. (2002). Predicting life-cycle adaptation of migratory birds to global climate change. *A rdea* **90:** 369-378.
- Coppack, T. & Pulido, F. (2004). Photoperiodic response and the adaptability of avian life cycles to environmental change. *Adv. Ecol. Res.* **35:** 131-150.
- Coppack, T., Pulido, F. & Berthold, P. (2001). Photoperiodic response to early hatching in a migratory bird species. *Oecologia* **128**: 181-186.
- Corso, A. & Cardelli, C. (2004). The migration of Pallid Harrier across the central Mediterranean with particular reference to the Strait of Messina. *Brit. Birds* **97:** 238-246.
- Cox, G. W. (1968). The role of competition in the evolution of migration. Evolution 22: 180-192.
- Cox, G. W. (1985). The evolution of avian migration systems between temperate and tropical regions of the New World. *Amer. Nat.* **126:** 451-474.
- Croxall, J. P., Silk, J. R. D., Phillips, R. A., Afanasyev, V. & Briggs, D. R. (2005). Global circumnavigations: tracking year-round ranges of nonbreeding albatrosses. *Science* **307**: 249-250.
- Cuadrado, M., Senar, J. C. & Copeti, J. C. (1995). Do all Blackcaps *Sylvia atricapilla* show winter site fidelity? *Ibis* 137: 70-75.
- Danhardt, J. & Lindström, A. (2001). Optimal departure decisions of songbirds from an experimental stopover site and the significance of weather. *Anim Behav.* **62:** 235-243.
- Davis, L. S., Boersma, P. D. & Court., G. S. (1996). Satellite telemetry of the winter migration of Adélie Penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*). *Polar Biology* 16: 221-225.
- Dawson, A., Hinsley, S. A., Ferns, P. N., Bosser, R. H. C. & Eccleston, L. (2000). Rate of moult affects feather quality: a mechanism linking current reproductive effort to future survival. *Proc R*. *Soc Lond. B* 267: 2093-2098.

- Diamond, J. M. (1982). Mirror-image navigational errors in migrating birds. *Nature* 295: 277-278.
- Dorst, J. (1961). The migrations of birds. London, Heinemann.
- Dugger, K. M., Arendt, W. J. & Hobson, K. A. (2004). Understanding survival and abundance of overwintering warblers: does rainfall matter? *Condor* **106**: 744-760.
- Dunne, P. J. & Sutton, C. C. (1986). Population trends in coastal raptor migrants over ten years of Cape May Point autumn counts. *Rec. N.J. Birds* 12: 39-43.
- Elkins, N. (1988). Weather and bird Behaviour. Calton, Poyser.
- Elkins, N. (2005). Weather and bird migration. Brit. Birds 98: 238-256.
- Ellegren, H. (1990b). Timing of autumn migration in Bluethroats *Luscinia svecica* depends on timing of breeding. *Ornis Fenn.* **67:** 13-17.
- Ellegren, H. (1991). Stopover ecology of autumn migrating Bluethroats *Luscinia s. svecica* in relation to age and sex. *Ornis Scand.* 22: 340-348.
- Ellegren, H. (1993). Speed of migration and migratory flight lengths of passerine birds ringed during autumn migration in Sweden. *Omis Scand.* 24: 220-228.
- Ellis, D. H., Sladen, W. J. L., Lishman, W. A., Clegg, K. R., Duff, J. W., Gee, G. F. & Lewis, J. L. (2003). Motorised migrations: The future or mere fantasy? *Bioscience* **53**: 260-264.
- Enquist, M. & Pettersson, J. (1986). The timing of migration in 104 bird species at Ottenby an analysis based on 39 years trapping data. Special Report from Ottenby Bird Observatory No. 8., Sweden,
- Evans, I. M., Summers, R. W., O'Toole, L., Orr-Ewing, D. C., Evans, R. D., Snell, N. & Smith, J. (1999). Evaluating the success of translocating Red Kites *Milvus milvus* to the UK. *Bird Study* 46: 129-144.
- Evans, P. R. & Davidson, N. C. (1990). Migration strategies and tactics of waders breeding in arctic and north temperate latitudes. Pp. 387-398 in '*Bird migration. Physiology and ecophysiology*'. (ed. E. Gwinner). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Evans, P. R., Davidson, N. C., Piersma, T. & Pienkowski, M. W. (1991). Implications of habitat loss at migration staging posts for shorebird populations. *Proc. Int. Om. Congr.* **20**: 2228-2235.
- Evans, P. R. & Lathbury, G. W. (1973). Raptor migration across the Straits of Gibralter. *Ibis* **115:** 572-585.
- Ferns, P. N. (1975). Feeding behaviour of autumn passage migrants in northeast Portugal. *Ringing & Migration* 1: 3-11.
- Ferrer, M. (1993). Juvenile dispersal behavior and natal philopatry of a long-lived raptor, the Spanish Imperial Eagle *Aquila adalberti*. *Ibis* **135**: 132-138.
- Ferrer, M. & Donazar, J. A. (1996). Density dependent fecundity by habitat heterogeneity in an increasing population of Spanish Imperial Eagles. *Ecology* **77**: 69-74.
- Fiedler, W. (2003). Recent changes in migratory behaviour of birds: a compilation of field observations and ringing data. Pp. 21-38 in 'Avian migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Fiedler, W. (2005). Ecomorphology of the external flight apparatus of Blackcaps (*Sylvia atricapilla*) with different migration behaviour. *Ann. N.Y. A cad. Sci* **1046**: 253-263.

- Fieldler, W. (2001). Large scale ringing recovery analysis of European White Storks (*Ciconia ciconia*). *The Ring* 23: 73-79.
- Figuerola, J. & Bertolero, A. (1998). Sex differences in the stopover ecology of Curlew Sandpipers *Calidris ferrug inea* at a refuelling area during autumn migration. *Bird Study* **45:** 313-319.
- Figuerola, J. & Green, A. J. (2000). Haematozoan parasites and migratory behaviour in waterfowl. *Evol. Ecol.* 14: 143-153.
- Finlayson, J. C. (1980). The recurrence in winter quarters at Gibraltar of some scrub passerines. *Ringing & Migration* **3:** 32-36.
- Forstmeier, M. C., Post, E. & Stenseth, N. C. (2002). North Atlantic Oscillation timing of long- and short-distance migration. J. Anim. Ecol. 71: 1002-1014.
- Fox, A. D., Glahder, C. M. & Walsh, A. J. (2003). Spring migration routes and timing of Greenland White-fronted Geese results from satellite telemetry. *Oikos* 103: 415-425.
- Fox, A. D., Hilmarsson, J. Ó., Einarsson, O., Walsh, A. J., Boyd, H. & Kristiansen, J. N. (2002). Staging site fidelity of Greenland White-fronted Geese Anser albifrons flavirostris in Iceland. *Bird Study* 49: 42-49.
- Francis, C. M. & Cooke, F. (1986). Differential timing of spring migration in Wood Warblers (Parulinae). Auk 103: 548-556.
- Francis, C. M., Richards, M. H., Cooke, F. & Rockwell, R. F. (1992). Long-term changes in survival rates of Lesser Snow Geese. *Ecology* **73**: 1346-1362.
- Fransson, T. (1995). Timing and speed of migration in North and West European populations of *Sylvia* warblers. *J. Avian Biol.* **26:** 39-48.
- Fransson, T., Jakobsson, S., Johansson, U. S., Kullberg, C., Lind, J. & Vallin, A. (2001). Bird migration magnetic cues trigger extensive refuelling. *Nature* **414**: 35-36.
- Fransson, T., Jakobsson, S. & Kullberg, C. (2005). Non-random distribution of ring recoveries from trans-Saharan migrants indicates species-specific stopover areas. *J Avian Biol.* **36:** 6-11.
- Frazar, A. M. (1881). Destruction of birds by a storm while migrating. *Bull. Nuttall Orn. Club* **6:** 250-252.
- Fredrickson, L. H. (1969). Mortality of Coots during severe spring weather. Wilson Bull. 81: 450-453.
- Freemark, K. & Collins, B. (1992). Landscape ecology of birds breeding in temperate forest fragments. Pp. 443-454 in '*Ecology and conservation of neotropical migrant landbirds*'. (eds. J. M. Hagan & D. W. Johnston). Washington, D.C., Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Freemark, K. E. & Merriam, H. G. (1986). Importance of area and habitat heterogeneity to bird assemblages in temperate forest fragments. *Biol. Conserv.* **36**: 115-141.
- Frenzel, L. D. & Marshall, W. H. (1954). Observations on the effect of the May 1954 storm on birds in northern Minnesota. *Flicker* **26**: 126-130.
- Fretwell, S. (1980). Evolution of migration in relation to factors regulating bird numbers. Pp. 517-527 in '*Migrant birds in the Neotropics*.', (eds. A. Keast & E. Morton). Washington DC, Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Fretwell, S. D. (1972). Populations in a seasonal environment. Princeton, Princeton University Press.
- Fuller, M. R., Seegar, W. S. & Schueck, L. S. (1998). Routes and travel rates of migrating Peregrine Falcons *Falco peregrinus* and Swainson's Hawks *Buteo swainsoni* in the western hemisphere. *J. Avian Biol.* 29: 433-440.
- Fusani, L. & Gwinner, E. (2005). Melatonin and nocturnal migration. Ann. N.Y. A cad. Sci 1046: 264-270.

- Ganusevich, S. A., Maechtle, T. L., Seegar, W. S., Yates, M. A., McGrady, M. J., Fuller, M., Schueck, L., Dayton, J. & Henny, C. J. (2004). Autumn migration and wintering areas of Peregrine Falcons *Falco peregrinus* nesting on the Kola Peninsula, northern Russia. *Ibis* 146: 291-297.
- Gill, J. A., Norris, K., Potts, P. M., Gunnarsson, T. G., Atkinson, P. W. & Sutherland, W. (2001). The buffer effect and large scale regulation in migratory birds. *Nature* **412**: 436-438.
- Gill, R. E., Piersma, T., Hufford, G., Servranckx, R. & Riegen, A. (2005). Crossing the ultimate ecological barrier: evidence for an 11,000 km-long nonstop flight from Alaska to New Zealand and eastern Australia by Bar-tailed Godwits. *Condor* **107**: 1-20.
- Gilroy, J. J. & Lees, A. C. (2003). Vagrancy theories: are autumn vagrants really reverse migrants? *Brit. Birds* **96**: 427-438.
- Gilyazov, A. & Sparks, T. (2002). Change in the timing of migration of common birds at the Lapland nature reserve (Kola Peninsula, Russia) during 1931-1999. *Avian Ecol. Behav.* **8:** 35-47.
- Green, M., Alerstam, T., Gudmundsson, A., Hedenström, A. & Piersma, T. (2004). Do Arctic waders use adaptive wind drift? *J. Avian Biol* **35:** 305-315.
- Green, R. E. (1999). Survival and dispersal of male Corncrakes in a threatened population. *Bird Study* **46** (Suppl.): 218-229.
- Green, R. E. & Stowe, T. J. (1993). The decline of the Corncrake *Crex crex* in Britain and Ireland in relation to habitat change. *J. Appl. Ecol.* **30**: 689-695.
- Griffioen, P. A. & Clarke, M. F. (2002). Large-scale bird-movement patterns evident in eastern Australian atlas data. *Emu* **102**: 97-125.
- Gunnarsson, T. G., Gill, J. A., Newton, J., Potts, P. M. & Sutherland, W. J. (2005). Seasonal matching of habit at quality and fitness in migratory birds. *Proc R. Soc Lond. B* **272**: 2319-2323.
- Gwinner, E. (1987). Annual rhythms of gonadal size, migratory disposition and moult in Garden Warblers Sylvia borin exposed in winter to an equatorial or a southern hemisphere photoperiod. Omis Scand. 18: 251-256.
- Gwinner, E. (1988). Photorefractoriness in equatorial migrants. Proc Int. Orn. Cong. 19: 626-633.
- Gwinner, E. (1990a). Bird migration. Physiology & Ecophysiology. Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Gwinner, E. (1990b). Circannual rhythms in bird migration: control of temporal patterns and interactions with photoperiod. Pp. 257-267 in 'Bird migration. Physiology and ecophysiology'. (ed. E. Gwinner). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Gwinner, E. (1996). Circadian and circannual programmes in avian migration. J. Exp. Biol. 199: 39-48.
- Gwinner, E. (1996). Circannual clocks in avian reproduction and migration. Ibis 138: 47-63.
- Hagan, J. M., Lloyd-Evans, T. L., Atwood, J. L. & Wood, D. S. (1992). Long-term changes in migratory landbirds in the northeastern United States: evidence from migration capture data. Pp. 115-130 in '*Ecology and conservation of neotropical migrant landbirds*'. (eds. J. M. Hagan & D. W. Johnston). Washington, D.C., Smithsonian Press.
- Haila, Y., Tiainen, J. & Vepsäläinen, K. (1986). Delayed autumn migration as an adaptive strategy of birds in northern Europe: evidence from Finland. *Omis Fenn.* **63**: 1-9.
- Haines, A. M., McGrady, M. J., Martell, M. S., Dayton, B. J., Henke, M. B. & Seegar, W. S. (2003). Migration routes and wintering locations of Broad-winged Hawks tracked by satellite telemetry. *Wilson Bull.* 115: 166-169.
- Håke, M., Kjellén, N. & Akerstam, T. (2001). Satellite tracking of Swedish Ospreys *Pandion haliaetus* autumn migration routes and orientation. *J Avian Biol.* **32:** 47-56.
- Håke, M., Kjellén, N. & Alerstam, T. (2003). Age-dependent migration strategy in Honey Buzzards *Pernis apivorus* tracked by satellite. *Oikos* 103: 385-396.

- Harris, M. P., Heubech, M., Shaw, D. N. & Okill, J. D. (2006). Dramatic changes in the return date of Common Guillemots *Uria aalge* to colonies in Shetland, 1962-2005. *Bird Study* **53**: 247-252.
- Hedenström, A. & Alerstam, T. (1998). How fast can birds migrate? J. Avian Biol. 29: 424-432.
- Hedenström, A. & J. Pettersson. (1987). Migration routes and wintering areas of Willow Warblers *Phylloscopus trochilus* ringed in Fennoscandia. *Ornis Scand.* **64:** 137-143.
- Hedenström, A. & Pettersson, J. (1986). Differences in fat deposits and wing pointedness between male and female Willow Warblers caught on spring migration at Ottenby, SE Sweden. Omis Scand. 17: 182-185.
- Helbig, A. (2003). Evolution of bird migration: a phylogenetic and biogeographic perspective. Pp. 3-20 in 'Avian Migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Helbig, A. J. (1994). Genetic basis and evolutionary change of migratory directions in a European passerine migrant *Sylvia atricapilla*. *Ostrich* **65**: 151-159.
- Helbig, A. J., Berthold, P. & Wiltschko, W. (1989). Migratory orientation of Blackcaps (*Sylvia atricapilla*): population-specific shifts of direction during the autumn. *Ethology* **82:** 307-315.
- Helm, B., Gwinner, E. & Trost, L. (2005). Flexible seasonal timing and migratory behaviour. Results from Stonechat breeding programmes. *Ann. N.Y. A cad. Sci* **1046**: 216-227.
- Helms, C. W. (1963). The annual cycle and Zugunruhe in birds. Proc Int. Orn. Cong. 13: 925-939.
- Henningsson, S. S. & Alerstam, T. (2005). Barriers and distances as determinants for the evolution of bird migration links: the arctic shorebird system. *Proc. R. Roc. Lond. B* **272**: 2251-2258.
- Hepp, G. R. & Hines, J. E. (1991). Factors affecting winter distribution and migration distance of Wood Ducks from southern breeding populations. *Condor* 93: 884-891.
- Herremans, M. (1998). Strategies, punctuality of arrival and ranges of migrants in the Kalahari basin, Botswana. *Ibis* **140**: 585-590.
- Hestbeck, J. B., Nichols, J. D. & Malecki, R. A. (1991). Estimates of movement and site fidelity using mark-resight data of wintering Canada Geese. *Ecology* **72**: 523-533.
- Hewitt, G. M. (2000). The genetic legacy of the Quaternary ice ages. Nature 405: 907-913.
- Hobson, K. A. (1999). Tracing origins and migration of wildlife using stable isotopes: a review. *Oecologia* **120**: 314-326.
- Hobson, K. A. (2003). Making migratory connections with stable isotopes. Pp. 379-392 in 'Avian *migration*'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Hobson, K. A., Sirois, J. & Gloutney, M. L. (2000). Tracing nutrient allocations to reproduction using stable isotopes: a preliminary investigation using the colonial waterbirds of Great Slave Lake. *Auk* **117:** 760-774.
- Hobson, K. A. & Wassenaar, L. I. (1997). Linking breeding and wintering grounds of neotropical migrant songbirds using stable hydrogen isotopic analysis of feathers. *Oecologia* **109**: 142-148.
- Hobson, K. A. & Wassenaar, L. I. (2001). Isotopic delineation of North American migratory wildlife populations: Loggerhead shrikes. *Ecological Applications* **11**: 1545-1553.
- Hochachka, W. M., Wells, J. V., Rosenberg, K. V., Tessaglia-Hymes, D. L. & Dhondt, A. A. (1999). Irruptive migration of Common Redpolls. *Condor* **101**: 195-204.
- Hochbaum, H. A. (1955). Travels and traditions of waterfowl. Minneapolis, University Minnesota Press.
- Hockey, P. A. K. (2000). Patterns and correlates of bird migrations in sub-Saharan Africa. *Emu* 100: 401-417.

- Hodson, K. A., McFarland, K. P., Wassenaar, L. I., Rimmer, C. C. & Goetz, J. E. (2001). Linking breeding and wintering grounds of Bicknell's Thrushes using stable isotope analyses of feathers. *Auk* 118: 16-23.
- Hoffman, S. W., Smith, J. P. & Meehan, T. D. (2002). Feeding grounds, winter ranges, and migratory routes of raptors in the mountain west. *J. Raptor Res.* **36**: 97-110.
- Holmgren, N. & Lundberg, S. (1993). Despotic behaviour and the evolution of migration patterns in birds. *Ornis Scand.* 24: 103-109.
- Houston, A. I. (1998). Models of optimal avian migration: state, time and predation. J. Avian Biol. 29: 395-404.
- Howlett, J. S. & Stutchbury, B. J. M. (2003). Determinants of between season site, territory, and mate fidelity in Hooded Warblers (*Wilsonia citrina*). Auk 120: 457-465.
- Howlett, P., Jüttner, I. & Ormerod, S. J. (2000). Migration strategies of sylviid warblers: chance patterns or community dynamics? *J. Avian. Biol.* **31**: 20-30.
- Huin, N. & Sparks, T. H. (1998). Arrival and progression of the Swallow *Hinundo rustica* through Britain. *Bird Study* **45:** 361-370.
- Huin, N. & Sparks, T. H. (2000). Spring arrival patterns of the Cuckoo *Cuculus canorus*, Nightingale *Luscinia megarhynchos* and Spotted Flycatcher *Muscicapa striata*. *Bird Study* **47**: 22-31.
- Hupp, J. W., Zacheis, A. B., Anthony, R. M., Robertson, D. G., Erickson, W. P. & Palacois, K. C. (2001). Snow cover and Snow Goose Anser caerulescens caerulescens distribution during spring migration. Wildl. Biol. 7: 65-76.
- Hüppop, O. & Hüppop, K. (2003). North Atlantic Oscillation and timing of spring migration in birds. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 270: 233-240.
- Hüppop, O. & Winkel, W. (2006). Climate change and timing of spring migration in the long-distance migrant *Ficedula hypoleuca* in central Europe: the role of spatially different temperature changes along migration routes. *J. Orn.* 147: 344-353.
- Javed, S., Takekawa, J. Y., Douglas, D. C., Rahmani, A. R., Kanai, Y., Nagendram, M., Choudhury, B. C. & Sharma, S. (2000). Tracking the spring migration of a Bar-headed Goose (*Anser indicus*) across the Himalaya with satellite telemetry. *Global Environ. Res.* 2: 195-205.
- Jehl, J. R. (1996). Mass mortality events of Eared Grebes in North America. J. Field Omithol. 67: 471-476.
- Jenkins, D. & Watson, A. (2000). Dates of first arrival and song of birds during 1974-99 in mid-Deeside, Scotland. *Bird Study* 47: 249-251.
- Jenni, L. & Kéri, M. (2003). Timing of autumn bird migration under climate change: advances in long distance migrants, delays in short distance migrants. *Proc R. Soc Lond. B* **270**: 1467-1472.
- Jenni, L. & Schaub, M. (2003). Behavioural and physiological reactions to environmental variation in bird migration: a review. Pp. 155-171 in 'Avian Migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer.
- Jensen, W. I. (1979). An outbreak of streptococcus in Eared Grebes *Podiceps nigricollis*. *Avian Dis.* **23**: 543-546.
- Jensen, W. I. & Cotter, S. E. (1976). An outbreak of erysipelas in Eared Grebes (*Podiceps nigricollis*). J. Wildl. Dis. 12: 583-586.
- Jensen, W. I. & Williams, C. (1964). Botulism and waterfowl. '*Waterfowl Tomorrow*.', (ed. J. P. Linduska). Washington DC, Government Printing Office.

- Jones, P. (1985). The migration strategies of Palaearctic passerines in West Africa. Pp. 9-21 in '*Migratory Birds: problems and prospects in Africa.*', (eds. A. MacDonald & P. Goriup). Cambridge, International Council for Bird Preservation.
- Jones, P. (1995). Migration strategies of Palaearctic passerines in Africa: an overview. *Israel. J. Zool.* **41:** 393-406.
- Kaitala, A., Kaitala, V. & Lundberg, P. (1993). A theory of partial migration. Amer. Nat. 142: 59-81.
- Kanai, Y., Ueta, M., Gerogenov, N., Nagendran, M., Mita, N. & Higuchi, H. (2002). Migration routes and important resting areas of Siberian Cranes (*Grus leuco geranus*) between northeastern Siberia and China as revealed by satellite tracking. *Biol. Conserv.* **106**: 339-346.
- Kanyamibwa, S., Bairlein, F. & Schierer, A. (1993). Comparison of survival rates between populations of the White Stork *Ciconia ciconia* in central Europe. *Ornis. Scand.* **24**: 297-302.
- Karasov, W. H. & Pinshow, B. (2000). Test for physiological limitation to nutrient assimilation in a long-distance passerine migrant at a springtime stopover site. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* 73: 335-343.
- Karlsson, L., Ehnbom, S., Persson, K. & Walinder, G. (2002). Changes in numbers of migrating birds at Falsterbo, South Sweden, during 1980-1999, as reflected in ringing totals. *Ornis Svecica* 12: 113-137.
- Karr, J. R. (1976). On the relative abundance of migrants from the north temperate zone in tropical habitats. *Wil. Bull.* **88:** 433-458.
- Karr, J. R. (1980). Patterns in the migration system between the north temperate zone and the tropics.
  Pp. 529-543 in '*Migrant birds in the Neotropics*'. (eds. A. Keast & E. Morton). Washington, D.C., Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Keast, A. & Morton, E. S. (eds.) (1980). Migrant birds in the Neotropics: ecology, behaviour, distribution and conservation. Washingon, D.C., Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Keeton, W. T. (1980). Avian orientation and navigation: new developments in an old mystery. Proc Int. Orn. Cong. 17: 137-157.
- Keller, V. (2000). Winter distribution and population change of Red-crested Pochard *Netta rufina* in southwestern and central Europe. *Bird Study* **47**: 176-185.
- Kelly, J. F. (2006). Stable isotope evidence links breeding geography and migration timing in wood warblers (Parulidae). *Auk* **123:** 431-437.
- Kelly, J. F., Atudorei, V., Sharp, Z. D. & Finch, D. M. (2002). Insights into Wilson's Warbler migration from analyses of hydrogen stable-isotope ratios. *Oecologia* **130**: 216-231.
- Kerlinger, P. (1989). Flight strategies of migrating hawks. Chicago, University Press.
- Kerlinger, P., Lein, M. R. & Sevick, B. J. (1985). Distribution and population fluctuations of wintering Snowy Owls (*Nyctea scandiaca*) in North America. *Ecology* **63**: 1829-1834.
- Kerlinger, P. & Moore, F. R. (1989). Atmospheric structure and avian migration. *Current Orn.* 6: 109-142.
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. (1982). The role of migration and winter mortality in the life history of a temperate-zone migrant, the Dark-eyed Junco, as determined from demographic analyses of winter populations. *Auk* **99**: 243-259.
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. (1983). The evolution of differential bird migration. *Current Omithology* 1: 357-402.
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. (1985). Intraspecific variation in avian migration: evolutionary and regulatory aspects. Pp. 553-579 in 'Migration: mechanism and adaptive significance. Contributions to Marine Science, Supplement, Vol 27. Austin, University of Texas'.

- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. (1986). A possible role for experience in the regulation of the timing of bird migration. *Proc Int. Om. Cong.* **19**: 2169-2179.
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. (1990). Site attachment and site fidelity in migratory birds: experimental evidence from the field and analogies from neurobiology. Pp. 117-129 in 'Bird migration. Physiology and ecophysiology'. (ed. E. Gwinner). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. J. (1976). Geographic variation and its climatic correlates in the sex ratio of eastern-wintering Dark-eyed Juncos (*Junco hyemalis hyemalis*). *Ecology* **57:** 679-693.
- Kilpi, M. & Saurola, P. (1984). Migration and wintering strategies of juvenile and adult *Larus* marinus, L. argentatus and L. fuscus. Ornis Fenn. **61:** 1-8.
- Kilpi, M. & Saurola, P. (1985). Movements and survival areas of Finnish Common Gulls *Larus canus*. *Ann. Zool. Fenn.* **22:** 157-168.
- Kjellén, N. (1992). Differential timing of autumn migration between sex and age groups in raptors at Falsterbo, Sweden. *Ornis Scand.* 23: 420-434.
- Kjellén, N. (1994a). Moult in relation to migration in birds a review. Ornis Svecica 4: 1-24.
- Klaassen, M. (1996). Metabolic constraints on long-distance migration in birds. J. Exp. Biol. 199: 57-64.
- Klaassen, M., Beekman, J. H., Kontiokorpi, J., Mulder, R. J. W. & Nolet, B. A. (2004). Migrating swans profit from favourable changes in wind conditions at low altitude. J. Ornithol. 145: 142-151.
- Klaassen, M., Kvist, A. & Lindström, A. (1999). How body water and fuel stores affect long distance flight in migrating birds. *Proc Int. Orn. Cong.* 22: 1450-1467.
- Klaassen, M., Kvist, A. & Lindström, A. (2000). Flight costs and fuel composition of a bird migrating in a wind tunnel. *Condor* **102**: 444-451.
- Klaassen, M., Lindström, A., H. Meltofte & Piersma, T. (2001). Arctic waders are not capital breeders. *Nature* **413**: 794.
- Kramer, G. (1952). Experiments on bird orientation. Ibis 94: 265-285.
- Kramer, G. (1957). Experiments on bird orientation and their interpretation. *Ibis* 99: 196-227.
- Landys-Ciannelli, M., Ramenofsky, M., Piersma, T., Jukema, J. & Wingfield, J. C. (2002). Baseline and stress-induced plasma corticosterone during long-distance migration in the Bar-tailed Godwit, *Limosa lapponica*. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* **75**: 101-110.
- Lane, B. A. & Parish, D. (1991). A review of the Asian-Australasian bird migration system. ICBP Tech. Bull. 12: 291-312.
- Langslow, D. R. (1976). Weights of Blackcaps on migration. Ringing & Migration 1: 78-91.
- Latta, S. C. & Faaborg, J. (2002). Demographic and population responses of Cape May Warblers wintering in multiple habitats. *Ecology* 83: 2502-2515.
- Laursen, K. (1978). Interspecific relationships between some insectivorous passerine species, illustrated by their diet during spring migration. *Ornis Scand.* **9:** 178-192.
- Lavee, D., Safriel, U. N. & Meilijson, I. (1991). For how long do trans-Saharan migrants stop at an oasis? *Ornis Scand.* 22: 33-44.
- Liechti, F. (2006). Birds: blowin' by the wind? J. Orn. 147: 202-211.
- Liechti, F. & Bruderer, B. (1998). The relevance of wind for optimal migration theory. *J. Avian Biol.* **29:** 561-568.
- Liechti, F., Bruderer, B. & Paproth, H. (1995). Quantification of nocturnal bird migration by moonwatching: comparison with radar and infrared observations. *J. Field Orn.* **66**: 457-468.

- Liechti, F., Hedenström, A. & Alerstam, T. (1994). Effects of sidewinds on optimal flight speed of birds. J. Theor. Biol. 170: 219-225.
- Liechti, F., Klaassen, M. & Bruderer, B. (2000). Predicting migratory flight altitudes by physiological migration models. *Auk* **117:** 205-214.
- Löhmus, A. (2001). Habitat selection in a recovering Osprey *Pandion haliaetus* population. *Ibis* **143**: 651-657.
- Ludwigs, J.-D. & Becker, P. H. (2002). The hurdle of recruitment: influences of arrival date, colony experience and sex in the Common Tern *Sterna hirundo*. *A rdea* **90**: 389-399.
- Lundberg, A. (1979). Residency, migration and compromise: adaptors to nest-site scarcity and food specialisation in three Fennoscandian owl species. *Oecologia* **41**: 273-281.
- Madsen, J. (2001). Spring migration strategies in Pink-footed Geese Anser brachyrhynchus and consequences for spring fattening and fecundity. A rdea 89: 43-55.
- Magnin, G. (1991). Hunting and persecution of migratory birds in the Mediterranean region. Pp. 59-71 in 'Conserving migratory birds', (ed. T. Salathé). Cambridge, International Council for Bird Preservation.
- Marks, J. S. & Doremus, J. H. (2000). Are Northern Saw-Whet Owls nomadic? J. Raptor Res. 34: 299-304.
- Marks, J. S., Evans, D. L. & Holt, D. W. (1994). Long-eared Owl. The Birds of North America No. 133. (eds. A. Poole, P. Stettenheim & F. Gill). Philadelphia: Academy
- Marra, P. P., Hobson, K. A. & Holmes, R. T. (1998). Linking winter and summer events in a migratory bird by using stable-carbon isotopes. *Science* **282**: 1884-1886.
- Marra, P. P. & Holmes, R. T. (1997). Avian removal experiments: do they test for habitat saturation or female availability? *Ecology* **78**: 947-952.
- Marra, P. P. & Holmes, R. T. (2001). Consequence of dominance-related habitat segregation in a migrant passerine bird during the non-breeding season. *Auk* **118**: 92-104.
- Marra, P. P., Sherry, T. W. & Holmes, R. T. (1993). Territorial exclusion by a long-distance migrant warbler in Jamaica: a removal experiment with American Redstarts (*Setophaga nuticilla*). Auk **110:** 565-572.
- Marsh, R. L. (1983). Adaptations of the Gray Catbird *Dumetella carolinensis* to long-distance migration energy stores and substrate concentrations in plasma. *Auk* **100**: 170-179.
- Marsh, R. L. (1984). Adaptations of the Gray Catbird *Dumetella carolinensis* to long-distance migration: flight muscle hypertrophy associated with elevated body mass. *Physiol. Zool.* 57: 105-117.
- McGrady, M. J., Ueta, M., Potapov, E. R., Utekhina, I., Masterov, V., Ladyguine, A., Zykov, V., Cibor, J., Fuller, M. & Seegar, W. S. (2003). Movements by juvenile and immature Steller's Sea Eagles *Haliaeetus pelagicus* tracked by satellite. *Ibis* **145**: 318-328.
- Menu, S., Gauthier, G. & Reed, A. (2005). Survival of young Greater Snow Geese (*Chen caerulescens atlantica*) during fall migration. *Auk* **122**: 479-496.
- Meyburg, B.-U., Paillat, P. & Meyburg, C. (2003). Migration routes of Steppe Eagles between Asia and Africa: a study by means of satellite telemetry. *Condor* **105**: 219-227.
- Mills, A. M. (2005). Changes in the timing of spring and autumn migration in North American migrant passerines during a period of global warming. *Ibis* **147**: 259-269.
- Møller, A. P. (2001). Heritability of arrival date in a migratory bird. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. 268: 203-206.
- Morton, M. L. (2002). The Mountain White-crowned Sparrow: migration and reproduction at high altitude. *Studies in A vian Biol.* 24.

- Mouritsen, H. & Mouritsen, O. (2000). A mathematical expectation model for bird navigation based on the clock-and-compass strategy. J. Theor. Biol. 207: 283-291.
- Murphy-Klaassen, H. M., Underwood, T. J., Sealy, S. G. & Czyrnyj, A. A. (2005). Long-term trends in spring arrival dates of migrant birds at Delta Marsh, Manitoba, in relation to climate change. *Auk* 122: 1130-1148.
- Newton, I. (1979). Population ecology of raptors. Berkhamsted, Poyser.
- Newton, I. (1986). The Sparrowhawk. Calton, T. & A.D. Poyser.
- Newton, I. (1998). Migration Patterns in West Palaearctic Raptors. Pp. 603-612 in 'Holarctic Birds of Prey'. (eds. R. D. Chancellor, B.-U. Meyburg & J. J. Ferrero). Calamonte, Spain, ADENEX-WWGBP.
- Newton, I. (1998a). Population limitation in birds. London, Academic Press.
- Newton, I. (2003). Speciation and biogeography of birds. London, Academic Press.
- Newton, I. (2004). Population limitation in migrants. Ibis 146: 197-226.
- Pennycuick, C. J. & Battley, P. F. (2003). Burning the engine: a time-marching computation of fat and protein consumption in a 520 km non-stop flight by Great Knots *Calidris tenuirostris*. *Oikos* 103: 323-332.
- Pennycuick, C. J., Bradbury, T. A. M., Einarsson, O. & Owen, M. (1999). Response to weather and light conditions of migrating Whooper Sw ans *Cygnus cygnus* and flying height profiles, observed with the Argos satellite system. *Ibis* 141: 434-443.
- Pennycuick, C. J., Einarsson, O., Bradbury, T. A. M. & Owen, M. (1996). Migrating Whooper Swans *Cygnus*: satellite tracks and flight performance calculations. *J. Avian Biol.* **27**: 118-134.
- Pulido, F. & Berthold, P. (1998). Evolutionary quantitative genetics of migratory behaviour in the Blackcap Sylvia atricapilla. Proc. Int. Om. Congr. 22.
- Pulido, F. & Berthold, P. (2003). Quantitative genetic analyses of migratory behaviour. 'Avian Migration'. (eds. P. Berthold, E. Gwinner & E. Sonnenschein). Berlin, Springer-Verlag.
- Pulido, F., Berthold, P., Mohr, G. & Querner, U. (2001). Heritability of the timing of autumn migration in a natural bird population. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. B* **268**: 953-959.
- Pulido, F., Berthold, P. & van Noordwijk, A. J. (1996). Frequency of migrants and migratory activity are genetically correlated in a bird population: evolutionary implications. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 93: 14642-14647.
- Rappole, J. (1995). The ecology of migrant birds. A neotropical perspective. Washington, Smithsonian Institution Press.
- Rappole, J. H., Derrickson, S. R. & Hubalek, Z. (2000). Migratory birds and spread of West Nile virus in the Western Hemisphere. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 6: 319-328.
- Rappole, J. H. & Jones, P. (2002). Evolution of Old and New world migration systems. Ardea 90: 525-537.
- Robertson, G. & Cooke, F. (1999). Winter philopatry in migratory waterfowl. Auk 116: 20-34.
- Schaub, M. & Jenni, L. (2000). Body mass of six long-distance migrant passerine species along the autumn migration route. J. Omithol. 141: 441-460.
- Schaub, M. & Jenni, L. (2001a). Stopover durations of three warbler species along their autumn migration route. *Oecologia* **128**: 217-227.
- Schaub, M. & Jenni, L. (2001b). Variation of fuelling rates among sites, days and individuals in migrating passerine birds. *Funct. Ecol.* **15:** 584-594.

- Schaub, M., Kania, W. & Koppen, U. (2005). Variation of primary production during winter induces synchrony in survival rates in migratory White Storks *Ciconia ciconia. Journal of Animal Ecology* 74: 656-666.
- Schaub, M., Pradel, R., Jenni, L. & Lebreton, J. D. (2001). Migrating birds stop over longer than usually thought: an improved capture-recapture analysis. *Ecology* **82**: 852-859.
- Scott, J. D., Fernando, K., Banerjee, S. N., Durden, L. A., Byrne, S. K., Banerjee, M., Mann, R. B. & Morshed, M. G. (2001). Birds disperse ixodid (Acari:Ixodidae) and *Borrelia burgdorferi*-infected ticks in Canada. *J. Med. Entomol.* 38: 493-500.
- Sokolov, L. & Payevsky, V. A. (1998). Spring temperatures influence year-to-year variations in the breeding phenology of passerines on the Courish Spit, eastern Baltic. Avian Ecol. & Behav. 1: 22-36.
- Sokolov, L. V. (1997). Philopatry of migratory birds. Phys. Gen. Biol. Rev. 11: 1-58.
- Sokolov, L. V. (2000). Spring ambient temperature as an important factor controlling timing of arrival, breeding, post-fledging dispersal and breeding success of Pied Flycatchers *Ficedula hypoleuca*. *Avian Ecol. Behav.* 5: 79-104.
- Sokolov, L. V. (2001). Climate influence on year-to-year variations in timing of migration and breeding phenology in passerines on the Courish Spit. *Ring* **231**: 159-166.
- Sokolov, L. V. (2006). Influence of the global warming on the timing of migration and breeding of passerines in the 20th century. *Zoologichesky Zhurnal* **85:** 317-342.
- Sokolov, L. V., Baumanis, J., Leivits, A., Poluda, A. M., Yefremov, V. D., Markovets, M. Y., Morozov, Y. G. & Shapoval, A. P. (2001). Comparative analysis of long-term monitoring data of numbers of passerines in nine European countries in the second half of the 20th century. *Avian Ecol. Behav.* 7: 41-74.
- Sokolov, L. V., Markovets, M. Y. & Morozov, Y. G. (1999). Long-term dynamics of the mean date of autumn migration in passerines on the Courish Spit of the Baltic Sea. *Avian Ecol. & Behav.* **2:** 1-18.
- Sokolov, L. V., Markovets, M. Y., Yefremov, V. D. & Shapoval, A. P. (2002). Irregular migrations (irruptions) in six bird species on the Courish Spit on the Baltic Sea in 1957-2002. *Avian Ecol. Behav.* **9**: 39-53.
- Sutherland, W. J., Newton, I. & Green, R. E. (eds.) (2004). Bird Ecology and Conservation: A Handbook of Techniques. Pp 386. Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Weber, T. P. & Houston, A. I. (1997). Flight costs, flight range and the stopover ecology of migrating birds. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 66: 297-306.
- Weber, T. P. & Houston, A. I. (1997). A general model for time-minimising avian migration. J. Theor. Biol. 185: 447-458.
- Wenink, P. W., Baker, A. J., Rösner, H.-U. & Tilanus, M. G. J. (1993). Hypervariable-control-region sequences reveal global population structuring in a long-distance migrant shorebird, the Dunlin (*Calidris alpina*). Proc. Natl. A cad. Sci. USA 90: 94-98.
- Wenink, P. W., Baker, A. J. & Tilanus, M. G. J. (1996). Global mitochondrial DNA phylogeography of holarctic breeding Dunlins (*Calidris alpina*). *Evolution* **50**: 318-330.
- Yésou, P. (1995). Individual migration strategies in Cormorants *Phalacrocorax carbo* passing through or wintering in western France. *Ardea* 83: 267-274.
- Yong, W., Finch, D. M., Moore, F. R. & Kelly, J. F. (1998). Stopover ecology and habitat use of migratory Wilson's Warblers. *Auk* 115: 829-842.
- Yong, W. & Moore, F. R. (1993). Relation between migratory activity and energetic condition among thrushes (Turdinae) following passage across the Gulf of Mexico. *Condor* **95**: 934-943.

- Žalavicius, M. (2001). A review of the practical problems resulting from the impact of the climate warming on birds. *A cta Orn. Lithuanica* **11:** 332-339.
- Zalakevicius, M., Bartkeviciene, G., Raudonikis, L. & Janultaitis, J. (2006). Spring arrival response to climate change in birds: a case study from eastern Europe. *J. Orn.* **147**: 326-343.
- Zalakevicius, M. & Zalakeviciute, R. (2001). Global climate warming and birds: a review of research in Lithuania. *Folia Zool.* **50:** 1-17.
- Zalles, J. I. & Bildstein, K. L. (2000). Raptor watch. A global directory of raptor migration sites. Cambridge, U.K., Birdlife International & Hawk Mountain Sanctuary.